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Chairman’s Statement

ERBES

Dear Shareholders,

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023, Hong Kong saw a gradual
resurgence in economic and social activities as COVID-19 was no longer a
public health emergency. Despite this progress, the general operating
environment continued to face uncertainties, and overall productivity levels
remained subdued. Globally, the economic landscape was challenged by
macroeconomic pressures including rising interest rates, ongoing strain on
Mainland China’s real estate sector, and escalating geopolitical tensions.
Locally, both the property and stock markets experienced continued declines
in value. As a result, a complete recovery in both the local and broader global
economy had yet to be achieved.

Amid ongoing economic uncertainty, prolonged geopolitical tensions and
potential financial market instability, the Group foresees challenges in the year
ahead. We will prudently manage our business operations and financial
resources during this difficult period. Vigilance and resilience will be vital to
navigate conditions as the recovery continues. Further to the issuance of
convertible notes near the end of the financial year, management is exploring
options to raise additional equity funding in order to strengthen our balance
sheet, enabling us to capture investment opportunities here and abroad for
the overall benefit of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

At last, | would like to take this opportunity expressing my warmest thanks to
your support.

Lau Tom Ko Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 3 June 2024
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Business Review

Market Review

As economic activities normalised after three years of the pandemic, global
recovery was hindered by elevated commodity prices, high inflation, disrupted
supply chains, escalating geopolitical tensions, and aggressive monetary
policy tightening in developed markets. These factors contributed to
difficulties in financial sector and the weakening of most currencies against
the US dollar.

Hang Seng index continued to drop 13.8% in the Year after a decline of
15.5% in Year 2022.

Operational Review

During the Year, the Group continued its investment activities in both listed
and unlisted investments as well as other related financial assets.

During the Year, the Company had disposed a significant portion of the listed
investments. Consequently, the gross proceeds from the disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL, which were revenue and capital in nature for tax purposes,
had increased substantially from that of the Year 2022.

Due to the market situation, the stock prices and hence the fair value of our
listed investments had mixed results.

Other than the listed investments, the Group did not make any new unlisted
investment during the Year.
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Financial Review

Results for the Year

The Group reported a loss after tax of approximately HK$22.4 million for the
Year compared to the loss of HK$4.8 million for the Year 2022. Other than
the administrative expenses, investment management expense had been
reduced from HK$0.96 million to HK$0.56 million, finance costs had been
reduced by HK$0.1 million after the repayment of margin loan from proceeds
on disposal of listed securities in the first half of the Year.

The loss for the Year was mainly due to the following reasons:

i) a loss of approximately HK$5.18 million (Year 2022: loss of HK$1.6
million) arose from the change in fair value of revenue in nature listed
equity investments at FVTPL as a result of the fluctuations of the stock
market;

(i)  aloss of approximately HK$1.73 million (Year 2022: gain of HK$4.5
million) arose from the change in fair value of capital in nature listed
equity investments at FVTPL as a result of the fluctuations of the stock
market; and

(i) administrative expenses of approximately HK$9.4 million (Year 2022:
HK$7.1 million) due to increase in directors’ emolument.

Other Comprehensive (Expense)/Income

A fair value loss of approximately HK$14.9 milion (Year 2022: income of
HK$0.17 million) was recognized as other comprehensive expense. The
expense was due to a reduction of the investment accounted for as financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive (expense)/income, which is
an indirect effective attributable minority interest of 7.94% in a zinc and lead
mine in the PRC.

The fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2023 was determined by
management based on limited financial and other information provided by the
controlling shareholder of the unlisted investee company which indirectly held
interest in a lead and zinc mine in the PRC, and a valuation performed by an
independent external valuer engaged by the Company.
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Gross Proceeds from Operations/Revenue

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL
— revenue in nature for tax purposes
— capital in nature for tax purposes

Dividend income 1 B A

HERAFEFAER
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—HMBME AEARNE
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REMBREBEHAE WA

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TAET

TR
3,095
1,176
4,271

As mentioned in the business review section above, during the Year, the
Group had disposed a significant portion of the listed investments.
Consequently, the gross proceeds from the disposal of financial assets at
FVTPL which are revenue and capital in nature, had increased substantially
from that of the Year 2022.

Other (Losses) and Gains, net

Other (losses) and gains, net mainly comprised of fair value (losses)/gains of
financial assets at FVTPL which was analysed in the table below:
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For tax purpose

RBEEmMS
Revenue in Capital in
nature nature Total
KamtE EXME wa
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TAT FA&T
2023 2023 F
Realised (losses) B#H (F8) (732) (3,839) (4,571)
Unrealised (losses) KEIR (E8) (5,180) (1,726) (6,906)
(5,912) (5,565) (11,477)
2022 2022
Realised (losses) 2238 (E518) (579) - (579)
Unrealised (losses)/gains 210 (E58), W= (1,034) 4,534 3,500
(1,609) 4,534 2,925
Net exchange gains I N W R — — —
(1,609) 4,534 2,925

Please refer to results for the Year section above and note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements for analysis and details.
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Other income

Other income for the Year was HK$10,000, including HK$9,000 from car
insurance claim over 5 years ago and HK$1,000 for forfeited contribution of
ex-employee from Mandatory Provident Fund (Year 2022: HK$295,000
including government subsidy received from the Government of Hong Kong
under the Employment Support Scheme in the amount of HK$192,000, and
proceeds on disposal of automobiles previously written off in the amount of
HK$103,000).

Administrative expenses

Among the administrative expenses, staff remuneration of HK$5,469,000 (Year
2022: HK$4,324,000) was the largest item of expenses which represented
approximately 57% (Year 2022: 56%) of the total administrative expenses.
Employees are regarded as the most valuable asset and the Group aims to
reward the staff with competitive remuneration package.

Investment management expenses

Investment management expenses of HK$560,000 (Year 2022: HK$960,000)
represented expenses paid to Opus Capital for the provision of investment
management services to the Group.

Pursuant to the 2022 IM Agreement, the appointment of Opus Capital as the
investment manager of the Company was renewed with effect from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 at a fixed monthly management fee of
HK$80,000, which had since been amended by way of a supplemental
agreement on 21 March 2023. The monthly management fee payable by the
Company under the 2022 IM Agreement from 1 March 2023 to 31 December
2024 reduced from HK$80,000 to HK$40,000 per month.

Finance costs

Finance costs included interest payment to a securities broker for provision of
margin loan and interest expenses of convertible notes.

In order to better utilize resources, the Group used margin loan provided by a
securities broker for its investment in listed equity securities since 2017. At
Year End Date, the Margin loan from a securities broker amounted to
approximately HK$2,415,000 (31 December 2022: HK$10,505,000) and the
related interest expenses were approximately HK$994,000 (Year 2022:
HK$1,106,000). Listed investments had been disposed in the first half of the
Year and the proceeds used to reduce the margin loan and due to a higher
interest rate in the early part of the Year. Hence, interest paid in the Year was
lower than that of Year 2022.
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Investments/Significant Investments

The investment objective of the Group is to enhance the corporate value to
the Shareholders. The strategy of the Group is to identify and invest in both
listed and unlisted investments with potential of growth within their industries.
In identifying potential investment, the Group will consider its business
segment, operation, current value and the potential of going public. Currently,
the Group has no specific industry focus on potential investment.

As mentioned in the market review and operational review, factors contributed
to difficulties in financial sector and hence, the value of listed investments of
the Group had mixed results at Year End Date.

At Year End Date, the Group held the following significant investments:

ITC Properties Group Ltd (“ITC”)
(00199.HK)

Information for this investment:
(i) during the Year, share price decreased by 35.00%.

(i) during the Year, realised loss was HK$17,508,000 and the unrealized
loss at Year End Date amounted to HK$36,253,000.

(i) at Year End Date, number and percentage of shares held were
14,635,763 shares and 1.61% respectively.

(iv) at Year End Date, its size relative to the Group’s total assets was
45.79%.

[TC will focus on the sale of the remaining units in Macau and other
redevelopment projects to secure revenue and maximise returns for their
shareholders. In addition, they will consider disposing of certain properties in
order to realise the tied-up capital and value. Apart from businesses in the
PRC, Macau, Canada and the United Kingdom, they will cautiously explore
potential property development projects and closely assess and select
attractive opportunities to replenish their Group’s portfolio.
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Wealth Spread Investment Limited (“Wealth Spread”)

Information for this investment:
(i) during the Year, fair value decreased by HK$14,894,000.

(i) during the Year, realised loss is HK$0 and unrealised loss at Year End
Date amounted to HK$48,753,000 respectively.

(i)  at Year End Date, number and percentage of shares held are 147
shares and 14.70% respectively.

(iv)  at Year End Date, its size relative to the Group’s total assets is 25.47%.

The Group held 14.7% equity interest in Wealth Spread as at 31 December
2023. Wealth Spread is an investment holding company with an indirectly
held equity interest of 54% in an entity (the “PRC entity”) principally engaged
in lead and zinc mining in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as at 31
December 2023. The Group had an indirect effective attributable minority
interest of 7.94% of the PRC entity.

A fair value loss of approximately HK$14,894,000 (Year 2022: income of
HK$0.17 million) was recognized as other comprehensive expense. The
expense was due to a reduction of the investment accounted for as financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, which is an indirect
effective attributable minority interest of 7.94% in a zinc and lead mine in the
PRC.

The fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2023 was determined by
management based on the limited financial and other information of the
unlisted investee company and the indirectly held lead and zinc mine in the
PRC made available by the controlling shareholder of the unlisted investee
company and the lead and zinc mine in the PRC to the Group and a valuation
performed by an independent external valuer engaged by management of the
Company.

The Board of Directors had been fully informed and accepted the fair value as
at 31 December 2023. The management will try to obtain the information as
requested by the auditor at the end of the fiscal year of 31 December 2024
for the purpose of evaluating the investment.

For a detailed understanding of the performance and future prospects of
those listed significant investments, please refer to the published annual/
interim reports of the respective listed companies as shown on the HKExnews
of the Stock Exchange. Other details of significant investments of the Group
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

At Year End Date, the Group had: () cash and cash equivalent of
approximately HK$4,017,000 (31 December 2022: HK$455,000); (i) a loan of
approximately HK$2,415,000 (31 December 2022: HK$10,505,000) from a
securities broker for margin financing of listed equity investments of the
Group; and (i) a loan from a director of HK$600,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$1,010,000; (v) a loan from a director of a subsidiary company of
HK$1,140,000 (31 December 2022: HK$0) and (v) a loan from an
independent third party of HK$0 (31 December 2022: HK$400,000). All loans
mentioned in (iii), (iv) and (v) above were non-interest bearing, due on demand
and with no guarantee provided by the Company.

In order to better utilise resources, the Group used margin loan provided by a
securities broker for the investment in listed capital stock investments since
2017. Details of the margin loan are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio (total liabilities/total assets) at Year End Date was 66.33% (Year
2022: 25.71%).

Capital structure

It is the Group’s treasury policy in utilizing Shareholders’ fund and internal
resources primarily for the investing activities and daily operations of the
Group. In order to preserve resources for potential investments and daily
operations, the Group may also borrow from third parties when the
circumstances warrant. Funds are mainly kept in HK$ and will be translated
into foreign currencies when necessary. The Group has no hedging policy.

Details of the margin loan are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the convertible notes are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Outlook

Amid ongoing economic uncertainty, prolonged geopolitical tensions and
potential financial market instability, the Group foresees challenges in the year
ahead. We will prudently manage our business operations and financial
resources during this difficult period. Vigilance and resilience will be vital to
navigate conditions as the recovery continues. Further to the issuance of
convertible notes near the end of the financial year, management is exploring
options to raise additional equity funding in order to strengthen our balance
sheet, enabling us to capture investment opportunities here and abroad for
the overall benefit of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

Other Information

Charges on assets

Charges on assets of the Group are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Litigation

There was no outstanding litigation as at Year End Date.

Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities as at Year End Date.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

During the Year, the investments of the Group were mainly denominated in
HK$, USD and RMB. Since HK$ is pegged to USD, significant exposure is
not expected in USD transactions and balances. During the Year, the bank
and cash balances in RMB were not significant and the exposure to RMB is
insignificant.

The Group does not have foreign exchange hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Due to the business nature, the Group has no major customer and supplier.
Therefore, there is no ageing analysis of the accounts receivable and
accounts payable.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

At Year End Date, the Group had 6 employees and 5 Directors. The
remuneration packages of the employees and Directors include monthly
salary, contribution to MPF Scheme, overtime payment, discretionary bonus
and directors’ fee. Remuneration policies of the Group is to reward the
employees and the Directors with remuneration packages in accordance with
the market situation and their performance from time to time. Remuneration
Committee will meet at least once a year to review the remuneration policy
and package of Directors and senior management of the Group. The
remuneration of other employees is determined by the managing director of
the Group. No Director or executive is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Group has participated in the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of an independent trustee. Pursuant to the rules of the MPF
Scheme and the policy of the Group, the Group and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of their monthly
relevant income. Forfeited contribution can be used to reduce future
contribution of the Group. There was HK$1,000 forfeited contribution
received in the Year.

On-the-job training and continuous professional development are important
elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees of the Group.
The Group encourages employees to attend training courses and
reimbursement will be made by the Group for those job-related training
courses. Besides, the Group will purchase relevant reference materials for the
employees’ on-the-job reference.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities can be found in the

Management Discussion of this annual report which form part of this
directors’ report.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 47.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year (Year
2022: Nil).

Share Capital

On 11 December 2023, shareholders approved a capital reorganization at the
Special General Meeting and was effective from 13 December 2023. Details

of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Plant and Equipments

Details of movements during the Year in plant and equipments of the Group
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations

During the Year, the Group did not make any charitable donation (Year 2022:
HKSNIl).
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Director

Vacant (from 10 June 2021)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FENG Nien Shu

Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen, Richard
Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa
Mr. IP Kwok Kwong

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws and CG Code of the Listing
Rules at the recommendation of the nomination committee, Mr. IP Kwok
Kwong and Mr. FENG Nien Shu shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 31 May
2024, the latest practicable date before printing of this annual report are set
out below:

Executive Director

Vacant (from 10 June 2021)
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Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen, aged 73, was appointed as non-executive Director
and subsequently re-designated as executive Director and appointed as
chairman of the Company in 2009. In 2010, he was redesignated as non-
executive Director and deputy chairman of the Company. He has
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company on 21 May 2021. He was redesignated as non-
executive Director and remained as Chairman on 10 June 2021. He is a
member of the remuneration committee and a director of the subsidiaries of
the Company. He has over 45 years of international corporate development
and management experience in infrastructure developments as well as
construction and engineering services involving the road, rail, port, power,
telecommunications, mining and resources sectors in the Asia Pacific Region.
Mr. Lau was previously the chairman and managing director of Blue River
Holdings Limited (formerly known as PY| Corporation Limited) (00498.HK), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and resigned as
executive director in May 2021. Mr. Lau was the deputy chairman and
executive director of South Shore Holdings Limited (00577.HK) up to June
2020, the shares of which were delisted from the Stock Exchange in February
2023.

On 21 December 2017, Mr. Lau had entered into appointment letter with the
Company for a term commencing from 21 December 2017 and continue until
terminated by either party by not less than three months prior written notice
or any time agreed by both parties. He is subject to the requirement that one-
third of all the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company. There is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.

During the Year, Mr. Lau received a monthly remuneration of HK$200,000
from the Company beginning 1 April 2023.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, aged 68, was appointed as an INED in 2009.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is a fellow member of both HKICPA and The
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
Adelaide in Australia. He has over 30 years of experience in property
investment, corporate finance and media and entertainment business. Mr. Lui
has resigned as the executive director and the chief executive officer of eSun
Holdings Limited (00571.HK), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, in
October 2023. Mr. Lui was an executive director of Media Asia Group
Holdings Limited (formerly 08075.HK) before it withdrew from listing on 20
March 2023.

Mr. Feng Nien Shu, aged 58, was appointed as an INED in 2009. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Windsor in Canada and
a Bachelor of Arts degree from the York University in Canada. He has over 28
years of experience in investment, merger and acquisition in China and South
East Asia.

Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa, aged 58, was appointed as an INED in 2009. She
is @ member of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. She holds a Bachelor and Master degree in Law from The
University of Hong Kong, as well as a Master degree in Corporate Finance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Wong is a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and Supreme Court of England and Wales, a
member of the Hong Kong Law Society and Hong Kong Society for Financial
Analysts. She is a holder of the Chartered Financial Analyst designation. Ms.
Wong has over 30 years of experience in the legal profession, primarily
working as corporate counsel and company secretary of Hong Kong listed
companies. Ms. Wong was previously an independent non-executive director
of Blue River Holdings Limited (formerly known as PYIl Corporation Limited)
(00498.HK), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and
resigned on 3 February 2021.

On 21 December 2017, all of the above independent non-executive Directors
have entered into appointment letters with the Company for a term
commencing from 21 December 2017 and continue until terminated by either
party by not less than three months prior written notice or any time agreed by
both parties. They are subject to the requirement that one-third of all the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company.
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Mr. Ip Kwok Kwong, aged 63, is a Chartered Valuation Surveyor, a
Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice) under the Surveyors
Registration Ordinance of Hong Kong and a Registered Business Valuer of
the Hong Kong Business Valuation Forum.
committee member of the People’s Political Consultative Conference of
Harbin, the PRC in the second half of 2011 after having received the
Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award from the Enterprise Asia, a non-
governmental organisation for entrepreneurship in mid-2011. He has over 30
years of experience in business valuation, surveying and corporate
development. Mr. Ip is currently the Executive Director and the Managing
Director of Asia Pac Financial Investment Company Limited (Stock code:
8193.HK).

Mr. Ip was appointed as a

Mr. Ip does not have a service contract with the Company. He has no fixed
term of service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company.

During the Year, each of the INEDs received director’s fee of HK$100,000 per
annum on a proportional basis of time as an independent non-executive
directors. The director’s fee for each of the INEDs will remain at HK$100,000
per annum for year 2024 which is determined with reference to their duties
and the prevailing market conditions.

Senior Management

Mr. Wan Tat Kay, Dominic Savio, aged 67, was appointed as financial
controller and company secretary of the Group on 1 June 2021. He is also a
director of the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wan has over 30 years of
experience in auditing and financial management of companies across
various business sectors. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Confirmation of Independence of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation
of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the INEDs are independent.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, Directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against the Directors.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

At Year End Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company and any of their associates in the Shares and
underlying Shares or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as
follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Personal’ Family*

Interests Interests
Name of Director EENZ (PN RikER"
Lau Tom Ko Yuen 25 = 5,340,000 26,689,084

* Beneficial owner
* Interests of spouse

# Interests beneficially held by the company itself or through companies controlled
by it

Note:

26,689,084 Shares were held by ALL Fame Developments Limited, a company
controlled as to 100% by Sun Matrix Limited. Sun Matrix Limited was controlled as to
50% by Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen and 50% by Ms. Lan Yi, the spouse of Mr. Lau Tom Ko
Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, at Year End Date, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed to have
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares or any of its
associated corporations as recorded in the register that required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders

At Year End Date, the following persons had interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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BARRRBEES LY fﬂﬂﬂ%s%{%?ﬁﬁ
ZERMALE  TIHALTRFEEAREK
REBEROTHEAERD AR

Long positions in the Shares RO Z2HFE
Percentage of
issued share
Personal Family* Corporate* Total capital of the
Interest Interests Interests Interests Company
LR NN
BITRA
Name of Shareholder BRRERB AR Xk#Ez A7FER R ZESHK
ALL Fame Developments Limited 5 22 %% & B R A &) — — 26,689,084 26,689,084 22.03%
(Note)
(Bt 3%)
Sun Matrix Limited Sun Matrix Limited - — 26,689,084 26,689,084 22.03%
(Note)
(B &E)
Lau Tom Ko Yuen* glm R 5,340,000 26,689,084 26,689,084 32,029,084 26.44%
(Note)
(B 1)
LanYi B — — 32,029,084 26,689,084 32,029,084 26.44%
(Note)
(Bt 3%)
* Interests of spouse + [k lR 2y

# Interests beneficially held by the company itself or through companies controlled
by it

* Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen is a non-executive Director and Chairman of the Company.

Note:

ALL Fame Developments Limited was controlled as to 100% by Sun Matrix Limited,
which in turn 50% controlled by Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen the non-executive director and
Chairman of the Company, and 50% by Ms. Lan Yi, the spouse of Mr. Lau Tom Ko
Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, at Year End Date, the Directors were not aware of
any other person who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register that required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and/or were directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of the share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
members of the Group.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Convertible Notes

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or convertible notes of, the Company or
any other body corporate and neither the Directors nor the chief executive,
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

Connected Transaction

Investment Management Agreement

2022 IM Agreement

On 26 January 2022, the Company entered into the 2022 IM Agreement with
Opus Capital for the appointment of Opus Capital as the Company’s
investment manager for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024.

Under the 2022 IM Agreement, Opus Capital is entitled to:

()  amanagement fee of a fixed amount of HK$80,000 per month (exclusive
of disbursements); and

(b)  discretionary bonus, if any and at such amount as the Board may at its
discretion determine, provided that no such bonus shall be payable
unless the Adjusted NAV as at the end of each Financial Year exceeds
the higher of: (i) the Net Asset Value for the year ended 31 December
2021; and (i) the Adjusted NAV of the most recent Financial Year after
year 2021 for which Opus Capital is paid a discretionary bonus. The
amount of such bonus will be capped at HK$200,000 for each financial
year. Such bonus, if any, shall be paid within 30 days after the issue of
the audited financial statements of the Group for the relevant Financial
Year.

BEROITEAREEZ
Z 5

AR xR E AR A B A B AR A E A B
VETIEMZH FESAEBEALRRA
FAEMEMAEABRE Z R P A AT REREM
Bn MEEE RRTHRAE - FAREZ
LB I8 IA T FRINERE Al BB AR A
Br 2 AR -

ESECEEXRS  RETAE
MW

AR EEAMBERAREET LR ANFE
RERAFEEMBHFTEMESTEE LM
BEREEARGCEERS THIEH -

BEXS

REEEH R

2022 F R EEEW &

R2022F1H26H - A AR Al E & ARNE L
0NFHREEE W EFBEELAABAR
AIM IR B LI 820226181 HE2024F12
B31B AL

RIF2022F & BB W&
W R -

BEEXE R

(@) = HB0000BTHEEERERE (TR
RBMAXEH) R

) BBEL(WNE) MEBSERESS
MiEET EEBIEAERSVREE
AOEALREEFEBEATES &
B 5 Al 2+ ()L =2021F12 A31 8 1t
FEMEEFE: L2021 FEEKIO
W BFE(BEEAEINRBREA
BVNKAREESE MABTASE
REMBRT REIRBFERLEA
200,000/ 7T 2 EIE4L (A ) AR A E
B BT ENEEZY SR E T8
%30R R Z e



An amendment had been made and announced on 21 March 2023, reducing
the monthly management fee from HK$80,000 to HK$40,000 from 1 March
2023 until the contract expired on 31 December 2024.

Information on Opus Capital

Opus Capital is a corporation licensed to carry out Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. It was incorporated in Hong
Kong in 2014 and is principally engaged in the business of provision of
investment services covering traditional and alternative investments via
various platforms.

Being the investment managers of the Company, Opus Capital are connected
person under Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules.

Further particulars of the above connected transaction is disclosed in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements and it has complied with the
requirements (including the disclosure requirements) of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have other
connected transaction.

The Board (including INEDs) confirmed that the 2022 IM Agreement are
entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of business, on
normal commercial terms and such transaction is fair and reasonable, in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole and is conducted in accordance with
the terms of 2022 IM Agreement.

The Board confirmed that the auditor of the Company has issued to the
Board an unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transaction of the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

Save as the investment management agreement, the details of which are
disclosed under the connected transaction section of this report, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks of the Group are highlighted as below:

1. The principal activity of the Group is highly affected by the volatility and
uncertainty of the worldwide economies which in turn affect the earning
power of business enterprises and the fluctuation in stock markets.
Hence, the Group is subject to the risk of decrease in the price and
value of its investments measured at FVTPL and FVOCI.

2. For investments measured at FVTPL, the financial impact on the
decrease in price of the investments is set out in note 29.2(iii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

3. For investments measured at FVOCI, the financial impact on the
decrease in fair value of the investments which in turn causes a
decrease in Net Asset Value is set out in note 29.5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

4. In order to mitigate the risk, the Group engages an experienced
investment director and investment manager to manage the diversified
investment portfolio of the Group. Besides, an investment committee
will also review the investment portfolio regularly.

Key Performance Indicator

Being an investment company, the objective of the Group is to invest in
quality investments which in turn enhance the corporate value to the
Shareholders. For both short term and long term investments, a major
objective of the Group is to achieve a gain in asset value of the investments
which in turn increase the value of the Group. Hence, the Net Asset Value,
which shows the value of the Group, is considered as the key performance
indicator of the Group. The Net Asset Value is set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Environment Policies and Performance

The Group promotes environmental protection in daily business operations
including recycling consumables such as papers and reducing the energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and appliances.

The Group will review its environmental protection practices from time to time
and will consider further eco-friendly measures and practices in the operation.

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are discussed in
more detail in the ESG Report of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group pays attention to legal and regulatory requirements in designing its
policies and practices. Being listed in the Stock Exchange with businesses
mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC, the laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Group include Listing Rules and those laws of Hong
Kong on securities, companies, taxation and labour. The Listing Rules, laws
on securities and companies govern the listing and legal status of the Group,
the trading of the Shares and equity investments on the Stock Exchange. The
law on taxation governs the taxability of the activities of the Group which in
turn affects the profit and loss attributable to the Shareholders. The law on
labour governs the employment of the Group which affects the remuneration
and retirement benefits payable to the employees of the Group. The Board is
not aware of any significant non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations.
Legal and compliance advisers will be engaged when necessary to ensure
the Group operates in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group identified that the key stakeholders are employees of the Group
and the Shareholders.

Employees

The activities of the Group is heavily relied on the quality and loyalty of the
employees. Employees are regarded as the most valuable assets of the
Group. The Group is aimed to reward the staff with competitive remuneration
package and to provide staff with healthy and safety working environment.
Staff are encouraged to attend training courses and reimbursement will be
made for job-related training courses. The Group also promotes the employee
involvement in effective communications in designing its policies and
practices. The “social” section of the ESG Report has a more detalil
discussion.
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Shareholders

The Shareholders support the Group’s activities by providing funding to the
Group. One of the goals of the Group is to enhance the corporate value to
the Shareholders. The Group strives to obtain the quality investments in order
to enhance the asset value and profitability of the Group which in turn the
wealth of the Shareholders. The Group maintains regular communication with
Shareholders by way of general meetings and announcements.

Customers and Suppliers

Due to the business nature, the Group has no major customer and supplier.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares
of the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws, or the Company Act (1981) of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption

Except for dividend income which is exempt from tax in Hong Kong, the
Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of holding the Shares.

Dividend Policy

The Board may declare dividend from time to time. The Board has absolute
discretion in the declaration of dividend after taking into account the following
factors:

Reserves of the Group available for distribution;
Performance of the Group;

Anticipation of future outlook of the economy;

Liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group; and
Any other matters considered appropriate by the Board.
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Subsequent Events

Save as disclosed above, the Company had completed and issued an
aggregate principal amount of HK$4 million convertible notes to an
independent third party on 30 April 2024. The Company’s shares had been
suspended from trading beginning at 9:00 a.m. on 2 April 2024.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Closure of the Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 21 June 2024 to
28 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to determine the identity of the shareholders who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all duly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 June 2024.

Auditor

CL Partners CPA Limited retires and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Tom Ko Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 3 June 2024
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework of
corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to Shareholders.

The Company adopted all the code provisions in the CG Code as its own
code on corporate governance practices.

During the Year, the Company complied with the code provisions in the CG
Code except for the following deviations:

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual.

From 10 June 2021, due to the position of executive director was vacant, all
investing/divesting activities had to be pre-approved by Opus Capital.

The Company had received approval from the Stock Exchange for a suitable
person to act as its executive director and chief executive. Once the
appointment is made, the Company will make an announcement in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board

Composition

The Board currently consists of one non-executive Director and four INEDs.
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, an INED, has the appropriate professional
accounting experience and expertise. The names and biographical details of
each Director are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this annual report.

During the Year, all Directors have attended seminars and provided reading
materials covering a wide range of topics including corporate governance and
updates on the Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance. All Directors have
provided record of seminars attendance. The Company will continue to
arrange and/or fund the training in accordance with the CG Code. The Board
has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Group.
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Function

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and the
Company'’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the strategy of the
Group, major acquisition and disposal, major capital investment, dividend
policy, appointment and retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and
other major operational and financial matters. Day-to-day operations of the
Group are taken up by the Company’s management and the Company’s

investment manager.

The Board established schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its decision and those reserved for the management. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to the
needs of the Company.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, risk management, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. The
Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary.

The Board established procedures to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request,
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

Since 10 June 2021, the Board meets on a monthly basis to approve net
assets value announcement due to the vacancy in the position of executive
director.

Additional board meetings were held when necessary. Due notice and board
papers were given to all Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the CG Code.
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The attendance records of the Directors for the Board and committee WRAEERNE ER eeH LEeeH
meetings and the general meetings for the Year are as follows: kR RXE 2 EED ﬁ mE

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held
HESERAY ETEERK
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEE EREEE FHZEEE REZEEE RREAE

Directors =}
Executive Director BITES
Vacant (from 10 June 2021) B {7 852 (202146 A 10 B #£)

Non-Executive Director EHTES

Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Chairman) 2l& R (£ /&Z) 15/15 N/A 2/2 2/2 2/2
i A
INEDs BIYFHTES
Feng Nien Shu W2 15/15 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2
Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard =K R 15/15 3/3 2/2 N/A 2/2
i A
Wong Lai Kin, Elsa HER 15/15 3/3 N/A 2/2 2/2
i A
IP Kwok Kwong (Appointed % B ¢, (A 20234 5 A 31 H £ 1) 9/9 1/1 N/A N/A 1/1
on 31 May 2023) (Note 5T) (Note 5T) i A i A (Note 5F)
Total number of meetings IR E BT
held during the Year R E 15 3 2 2 2
Note: Number of meetings held after appointed as INED on 31 May 2024. i H20283F5A3IHEZITABILIIENTES

BHERIRAE -

Model Code for Securities Transactionsby EEBE TR EXZ 2B %
Directors <F 8

The Company adopted the Model Code as the codes of conduct regarding A AR B MIEEFTEEEEBEER AN
securities transactions by Directors and by relevant employees of the T MHBAREREETEAL S ZBETFER &K $
Company. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the A GI{EHEBEHRE 2 RESOHERAFE
Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code and its code of RAEE RN —H 2 @& 712457 g &é%
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the Year. TRBAXHHRESESTE -
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Board Committees

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, there
are three board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee formed under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of four INEDs, namely Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen,
Richard, Mr. FENG Nien Shu, Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa and Mr. IP Kwok
Kwong. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. LUl Siu Tsuen, Richard.

The role and function of the Audit Committee include:

—  to serve as a focal point for communication between other directors
and the auditor in respect of the duties relating to financial and other
reporting, internal controls, audits, and such other matters as the Board
may determine from time to time.

— to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing an
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by satisfying
themselves as to the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group
and the adequacy of the audits.

—  to review the appointment of auditor on an annual basis including the
review of the audit scope and approval of the audit fees.

—  to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to their
approval by the Board, and recommend application of accounting

policies and changes to the financial reporting requirements.

—  to ensure continuing auditor objectivity and to safeguard independence
of the Company’s auditor.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:

— to review the financial statements for Year 2022 and for the six months
ended 30 June 2023;

—  to review of the effectiveness of the internal control of the Company;
and

—  toreview the independence of auditor.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of one non-executive director
namely Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen and two INEDs, namely Mr. FENG Nien Shu
and Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen, Richard. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by
Mr. FENG Nien Shu.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee include formulation of
the remuneration policy, review and recommending to the Board the annual
remuneration policy, and determination of the remuneration of the executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model under the
CG Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Director and senior management. The
Directors are remunerated with reference to their respective duties and
responsibility with the Company, the Company’s performance and current
market situation.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:
—  toreview of the remuneration policy and package; and
—  to approve and review the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

Details of Directors’ emoluments for the Year are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises of one non-executive director namely
Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen and two INEDs, namely Mr. FENG Nien Shu and Ms.
WONG Lai Kin, Elsa. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. LAU Tom
Ko Yuen.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, formulating relevant procedures
for nomination of Directors, identifying qualified individuals to become
members of the Board and making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
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Directors or Shareholders, in accordance to the Bye-Laws of the Company,
may nominate candidate for appointment as Director. When assessing
candidates for directorship, the nomination committee will take into
consideration the skills, experience, education background, professional
knowledge, personal integrity, board diversity and potential contribution to the
Company of the proposed candidates. The proposed candidates should
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.
Potential candidates for INED should also meet the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be
recommended to the Board for approval.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:
—  toreview the structure, size and composition of Board; and

—  toreview the policy and procedures for nomination of Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company will also
take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in determining
the optimum composition of the Board.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the Systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Systems are designed to manage rather that eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of the Systems and the Board oversees the management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis.
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Risk Management System

The Group adopted a risk management policy which sets out the structure of
the risk management, responsibility between Directors and management of
the Group, and the procedures on the risk management of the Group.

The Board identified risks in accordance with the business nature of the
Group. For those significant risks identified, the management will prepare
relevant policies and procedures for the daily operation of the Group.
Management will monitor the significant risk during the operation and report
to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management system on a regular
basis. Weakness identified in the risk management system will be remediated
as soon as possible.

Internal Control System

Internal control systems were set up according to the operations of the Group
which cover the financial, operational and compliance aspects of the Group.
Relevant policies and procedures have been prepared for the daily operation
of the management. Internal audit consultant will review the effectiveness of
the internal control systems on rotational basis with each system to be
reviewed at least once in every three years. The internal audit consultant will
report the review results to the audit committee and Board twice a year.

Specific to the dissemination of inside information, the Group has an inside
information disclosure policy and procedures which set out procedures on
the dissemination of inside information. An inside information disclosure
committee has been set up to manage the dissemination of the inside
information. Whenever there is inside information, the inside information
disclosure committee will make recommendation to the Board for the
approval of disseminating the inside information. The internal audit consultant
will review the effectiveness of this internal control system and report to the
Board for remedial action if weakness were identified.

Internal Audit

An independent third party with extensive experience in reviewing internal
control system of listed companies has been engaged to perform the internal
audit function of the Group. The scope of internal audit will be determined at
the start of each year. As part of the ongoing review of the Systems, the
internal audit reviews the Systems, makes recommendation and reports to
the audit committee twice a year.
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Review and effectiveness of the Systems

The management provided confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of
the Systems which cover the Year on a quarterly basis. As mentioned above,
the internal audit consultant reviews the Systems and reports to the audit
committee and the Board twice a year.

In addition to the above, the Board in its annual review further considered
that: (i) there are no changes in the nature and extent of significant risks and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in the business and external
environment; (i) the scope and quality of the ongoing monitoring of the
Systems by the management, internal audit consultant and external auditor
are adequate; (jii) the extent and frequency of communicating the monitoring
results to the Board are sufficient; (iv) there is no significant control failure or
weakness; and (v) the processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance are effective.

The Board,
management and the internal audit function, concluded that the Systems
were effective and adequate. It also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programmes and budget provided were sufficient.

through its review on the regular confirmation from the

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. CL Partner CPA
Limited during the Year for auditing and non-auditing services is analysed as
below:

Auditing for the Year REFR 2 ZH
Non-auditing: Az B

Agreed-upon procedures on Preliminary Results
Announcement for the Year

Agreed-upon procedures on Continuing
Connected Transactions for the Year
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Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
financial statements. The statement of the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 43 to 46.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Shareholders, holding at the
date of deposit of the written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
may require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. The written requisition should be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the head office of the Company, specifying the shareholders’
contact details and the resolution intended to be put forward at general
meeting.

For including a resolution to propose a person for election as a Director at
general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the Bye-Laws of the
Company. A written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting of the
Company for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a written notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office of the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days and that the period
for lodgment of such notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting of the Company appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting. The written notice must state that person’s biographical
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director is posted on the
Company’s website.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s registrar. Shareholders and the investment community may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publically available. Shareholders may also make enquiries
to the Board by writing to the company secretary at the Company’s head
office in Hong Kong at Suite 305, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Shareholder Communication and Investor
Relations

The objective of Shareholder communication is to provide Shareholders with
detailed information about the Company so that they can exercise their rights
as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure Shareholders
are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These include annual
general meeting, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars. Procedure for voting by poll has been read out by the chairman at
the general meeting.

At the general meetings held during the Year, a separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman in respect of each separate issue, including re-
election of the Directors and were voted by poll. The Company appointed the
share registrar of the Company to act as scrutineer of the poll to ensure that
votes cast are properly counted and recorded. The results of the poll were
announced in accordance with the Listing Rules.

During the Year, there had been amendments to the Company‘s Bye-laws.

The Listing Rules were amended by, among others, adopting a uniform set of
14 core shareholder protection standards for issuers regardless of their place
of incorporation set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules.

A special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company 2022 annual
general meeting of the Company had amended the Company’s Bye-Laws to
incorporate the above amendments to Listing Rules.
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RiE - HERERRS

Scope

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

The principal activities of the Group is investment activities in listed and
unlisted investments and other related financial assets. This report covers the
principal activities of the Company and its principal subsidiaries for the Year.
[t focuses on the aspects which have been identified as material to the
principal activities of the Group.

The environmental and social areas are addressed in this report and the
governance area is addressed in the corporate governance report as set out
on pages 38 to 42 of this annual report.

Overview

The approach and strategy of the Group for the environmental and social
areas is 1o raise the awareness of the employees in these areas which turn
into action during the daily operation of the Group with the objectives: (i) to
cause less harm to the environment and contribute to the environmental
friendly eco-system of the world; (i) to be a responsible employer; and (i) to
enhance the wealth of the stakeholders.

In order to achieve the above objectives, the Board aware the importance of
and acknowledge the responsibility for the strategy and reporting the
environmental and social areas of the Group.

Aspects which are considered material and in high priorities in the
environmental and social areas are highlighted as below.
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Environmental

The principal activities of the Group is investment activities in listed and
unlisted investments and other related financial assets. The use of resources
of the Group are mainly electricity and papers for office and reporting
purposes. The major emission of greenhouse gas is carbon dioxide through
the consumption of electricity and papers.

Emissions and use of resources

It is the policy of the Group to minimise the use of resources in order to
reduce the emission of carbon dioxide. The resources consumption and
emission are listed as below:

Resources consumption/Carbon dioxide emission

ERHEE /S BHnE

Resources consumption & B
Paper consumption

AR SR OH AR

Carbon dioxide emission (indirect emissions) — &1t #% B it & (8 £ HE 70)
Paper consumption

MIRB R

Electricity was covered by the landlord without separate meter. Hence, the
resources consumption and carbon dioxide emission of electricity are not
available.

The water consumption of the Group is minimum and immaterial. In view of
the business nature, the Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste.

In view of the principal activities of the Group, the Group is not aware of any
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environmental protection that have
significant impact on the Group.

All automobiles held by the Group are either hybrid or electricity driven in
order to reduce carbon dioxide emission.
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Impact on use of resources

In order to minimise the impact on environment, it is the aim of the Group to
minimise the use of resources in order to reduce the emission of carbon
dioxide. The Group has the following measures for achieving this aim:

1. switching off unnecessary lighting and electronic appliances (e.g.
computer) in order to reduce the electricity consumption;

2. using FSC certified paper for printing of interim and annual reports;

3. encouraging the employees to use electronic means for record keeping
in order to reduce the use of paper;

4, encouraging employees to use one-side printed recycle paper for
printing draft;

5. using air-conditioning with thermostats to maintain optimum
temperature for both occupants’ comfort and energy saving; and

6. assessing the compliance of environmental, social and governance
practice of investee when considering future investments.

Social

Employment

Employees is the most valuable asset to the Group. It is the policy of the
Group to employ person which is suitable to the position with equal
opportunity. Competitive remuneration package will be provided for the
employees. The Group will also comply with the relevant employment laws
and regulations.

ERERNTE

AEENSHBESNLE ARENHAED
BARNEAERERE WAL ZAILH
B0 B BB o A o B &5 T 4 5 LA B Bk
B

1. BEHEENENBBEREFHE(D: B
FS) LUR A E HE R

2. HRAKFSCREMMRNEDFHEFE
HE

3. HEEEERETFEARTFRENRD
{58 F AR OR

4. BEREBREMASEMIIENOMARIE
ENpl & 75

5. FABEEBEHARBKANRTSNEERKD
SFENBRITEERHEARNREELR
&k

6. RERBARKRER FHERENER
BTRE HEREBRER-

He
=

BRERASBNREEEE ASBHNEBK
RETYTEREUNRABESEHERULOA
T-REMERHABFOINFMES - A%
B 7T S & 8 T AR R R ROE B K AR )



2023 £/ « REREEHBERLA

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

At Year End Date, the Group had 6 employees with ages ranging from 58 to
68 who have worked in the Group ranging from within 1 month to about 14
years. The distribution of gender of the employee of the Company is shown in
the table below:

RiF - HERERRS

REHEB  AEBEBEFHN T58E68H
EEAAEBIENTIEAZ4FELH T
RINEHARREB MBS M

Number of Number of
male staff female staff Turnover rate
B Z
As at i EE®AR EE®R TR E
1 January 2023 202341 A1H 5 3 20.00%
Year End Date FiEH 4 2 33.33%
The laws on labour govern the employment of the Group which affect the & T :=GliiE A EENEE HE 2 AEFH

remuneration and retirement benefits payable to the employees of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with employment related laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the Group during the Year.

Health and safety

It is the policy of the Group to provide a healthy and safety working
environment to the employees. The Group will maintain its office premises
from time to time in order to provide a safety working place for the employees.
The Group also encourage employees to participate in recreational activities
organised by outside parties.

The laws on health and safety working environment governs the provision of a
healthy and safety working environment and compensation, if any, to the
employees of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to health and safety working environment during the
Year that have significant impact on the Group.

The Group regularly promotes employees’ occupational safety and health
good practice at work in the aspects of lighting condition, use of office
equipment, office safety, computer workstation design and working posture
through briefing and various communication channels, resulting in better
working environment quality.
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RIS HEREARE

Development and training

On-the-job training and continuous professional development are important
elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees of the Group.
The Group encourage employees to attend training courses (e.g. Listing
Rules and accountancy related seminars) and reimbursement will be made by
the Group for those job-related training courses. Besides, the Group will
purchase relevant reference materials for the employees’ self-study.

Labour standards

It is the policy of the Group to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
which prohibit the employment of child and forced labour.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to preventing child and forced labour during the Year
that have significant impact on the Group.

Supply chain management and product responsibility

The supply chain contributes only to a small part of the operation of the
Group which the Group has no policy on this area.

The Group does not have products or services provided to customers and
hence the product responsibility is not applicable to the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has a whistleblowing policy for employees reporting suspicious
cases to the top management of the Group or the Directors.

The laws on anti-corruption ensure the integrity of Directors and employees of
the Group in conducting the business activities of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to anti-corruption during the Year that have significant
impact on the Group.

Contribution to community

With base in Hong Kong and investments in Hong Kong and the PRC, the
Group did not make any donations to charitable organisations during the
Year. In the future, the Group will encourage staff to engage charities or non-
governmental organizations for volunteering and corporate social responsibility
opportunities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

D
QC CL Partners
s/
To members of

Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Prosperity
Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

As disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
held 14.7% equity interest in Wealth Spread Investment Limited (“Wealth
Spread”) as at 31 December 2023. Wealth Spread is an investment holding
company with an indirectly held equity interest of 54% in an entity (the “PRC
entity”) principally engaged in zinc and lead mining in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) as at 31 December 2023. The Group had an indirect
effective attributable minority interest of 7.94% of the PRC entity.

The Group’s investment in Wealth Spread (the “Investment”) is classified and
accounted for as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) and carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
of the Group at its fair value as at 31 December 2023 of approximately
HK$5,293,000, which resulted in a fair value loss of approximately
HK$14,894,000 recognised as other comprehensive expense in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. The fair value of the Investment
as at 31 December 2023 was determined by management based on limited
financial and other information of Wealth Spread and the PRC entity made
available to the Group and a valuation performed by an independent external
valuer (the “Valuer”) engaged by management of the Company.
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The Valuer’s work in estimating the fair value of the Investment (the “Valuation”)
involved significant use of source data, and significant assumptions, these
assumptions and inputs primarily including the future cash flows of the PRC
entity, such as the commencement date of mining, forecasted production
volume and associated costs to be incurred, the details of which were
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

We were unable to be satisfied about the relevance, completeness and
accuracy of the source data used in the Valuation, as well as the relevance
and reasonableness of the significant assumptions adopted in the Valuation
because neither the Valuer nor we were provided with the most recent
production plan containing specific information, including but not limited to,
annual production volume and corresponding costs to support the Valuation.

Therefore, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that
the fair value of the Investment as estimated by the Group’s management as
at 31 December 2023, including the latest overall development plan of the
PRC entity, such as the revised timeline, the revised estimated capital
expenditure, mining related cost and operating expenses to access the
appropriateness and accuracy of the financial information, as such did not
contain material misstatement. There were no other satisfactory audit
procedures that we could perform to determine whether any adjustments to
the carrying value of Wealth Spread and the related fair value loss recognised
in other comprehensive expense and investment revaluation reserve balances
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 were necessary. Any
adjustments found to be necessary could also affect the related elements
making up and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SRR A G

However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants issued by the HKICPA (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

CL Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
31 March 2024

HONG TING
Practising Certificate No.: PO7069
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

meRmkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £2023%F12A31H IFFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FHERT FAT
Gross Proceeds from Operations/ REFTSRIEAE WA
Revenue 6 4,271
Revenue WA 6 30 1,176
Other (losses) and gains, net Hh (BB kit - F8 7 (11,477) 2,925
Other Income HAb YA 8 10 295
Administrative expenses THEX (9,407) (7,137)
Investment management expenses REERHAX 25 (560) (960)
Finance costs B 755 B AR 9 (997) (1,106)
Loss before income tax BRATSRATEER (22,401) (4,807)
Income tax expense P8 fif X 10 - -
Loss for the Year FEFIE 11 (22,401) (4,807)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Ht2H (BxX) KA :
Item that will not be reclassified BEETEEN T BEZRBHEN
subsequently to profit or loss: IEH :
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair & A FEET A H i 2 iz~
value through other comprehensive income & Rl & & A V& (B 18), W (14,894) 169
Total comprehensive expense for the EAFEEANEGREE
year attributable to owners of the HAXARE
Company (37,295) (4,638)
Restated
Loss Per Share BREEB &7
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EARREEEW) 14 (18.49) (3.97)

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these consolidated Z53F 1158 2 M IH K AG A M BHE 2 —
financial statements. il
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FE AR

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 H31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 2 FExT FBT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Plant and equipments B M % 15 830
Financial assets at fair value through other EAVFEGFAEMEZEREZ
comprehensive income CREE 16 20,187
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEBZZ
profit or loss TREE 16 17,501
38,5618
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFAERZZ
profit or loss CRMEE 16 20,641
Other receivables H b fE YL AR 18 17 2
Cash held by securities brokers BHEKERBEZER 2 18 63
Bank balances and cash RITHEBANIR S 18 392
21,098
Current liabilities RBAE
Loan from a securities broker REBARKELZER 19 10,505
Other payables and accruals H b FE < BRIB AN FE EH AR 18 3,410
Borrowings =8 20 1,410
15,325
Net current assets RBEEFE 5,773
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERRBARS 44,291
Long term liability REEE
Convertible notes R R 21 -
Net assets BEEFHE 44,291
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FE AR

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 F#& T FHT

Capital and reserves EXRREE
Share capital R% A 22 30,283
Reserves G 14,008
Total equity BAAE 44,291
Restated
E75
Net Asset Value per Share (HK$) EREEFEGET) 23 0.37

Lau Tom Ko Yuen B 5 & Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard = Jk &
Director & % Director & %

The notes on pages 53
financial statements.

to 115 are an integral part of these consolidated S 53F115E v WK ANG AT EHREx 2 —

B e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e ] sl E-
GeESEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, 20235128318 IFEE

Investment
Share Share revaluation Contributed Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve surplus losses equity
REEM
BA RORE ] EREHR RitEE RAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1 A1H 30,283 192,895 (34,028) 290,081 (430,302) 48,929
(Loss) for the year FE(EE) — — - - (4,807) (4,807)
Other comprehensive 2t 2 E 3%
expense
Fair value gain on financial &2 F &t A H 4
assets at FVOCI 2HEMEZ S
BEATEKRE - - 169 - — 169
Total comprehensive SEXHEH AL
income/(expense) for
the year — — 169 — (4,807) (4,638)
At 31 December 2022  #2022F12H31H
and 1 January 2023 Kk2023F181H 30,283 192,895 (33,859) 290,081 (435,109) 44,291
(Loss) for the year FE(B#E) — — - - (22,401) (22,401)
Other comprehensive  H 12 E A
expense
Fair value (loss) on ZAFEGAEAM
financial assets at 2ENE SR
FVOCI BEATERXZ - - (14,894) - - (14,894)
Total comprehensive FE2E(FEX)
(expense) for the year B — — (14,894) — (22,401) (37,295)
Capital reorganisation 2023F 12 A13H
effective on ERK R A EAE
13 December 2023 (30,162) — — 30,162 — —
At 31 December 2023  2023F12A31H 121 192,895 (48,753) 320,243 (457,510) 6,996

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities

2023 £ « EERBEEBRERAT
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 128318 [FFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Pt 5E FTER TAET

RETHFBRERE

Loss before income tax W P15 750 Al g 18 (22,401) (4,807)
Adjustments for; MATSIBEDFE
Depreciation of plant and equipments BEREMEBITE 211 185
Finance costs B 78 B AR 9 997 1,106
Dividend income & B4 A (30) (1,176)
Net fair value loss/(gain) of financial assets at A F(EFABRZZEF
FVTPL BEANTEER
&8 (W) (2,925)
Operating loss before working capital changes 4B & @ BB Al 2 KL 518 (9,746) (7,617)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables E U BR TE R (69) 273
Increase in other payable and accruals H b FE < BR 1B R FE 5T BRI 3% N 2,217 1,135
Net proceeds from disposal/purchases of HETEEEAFEFABE
financial assets at FVTPL ZERMEBEMBRIEBFE 15,887 2,966
Cash from/(used in) operations KE TR,/ BB S (3,243)
Dividend received 2% 8 3,468
Net cash from operating activities ETE IR HE 2 FE 220
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHMEEERE
Payment for purchases of plant and equipments B B 5 & & 5% & 2 3% (950)
Net cash (used in) investing activities RETE (FH) HE FE (950)

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these consolidated 5553 F 1158H Z MisT R ARG & M B HE 7 —
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FRREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12831H IFFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FHERT FAT
Cash flows from financing activities REIBHMEEERE
(Repayment)/Proceed from loan from a director ({Ei&) /KB —ZEEFMWER (410) 1,010
(Repayment)/Proceed from loan from a third (B8) / RE—BIUE=4EK
party B (400) 400
Proceed from loan from a director of RKE—FRARANEEMER
a subsidiary company 1,140 -
(Repayment) of loan from a securities broker EEREBLHLELZER (8,090) (1,607)
Proceed from convertible notes KB A RRERE 4,000 -
Finance costs B %5 B AR 9 (997) (1,106)
Net cash (used in) financing activities BETE) (FTAH) R FE (4,757) (1,303)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReREEELHER
cash equivalents (m2) B8 (2,033)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January M1A1EBZR e REE
W4 IEE 2,488
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December K12 831 B2 B2 R % HE
BEIEH 455
Represented by 15
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LR 392
Cash held by securities brokers BEBLEFHEZR® 63
455

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these consolidated 553 F 1158 v MisT B ARG &M B HmEx 2 —
financial statements. #B e



1.

2023 £/ « REREEHBERLA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 128318 [FFE

General Information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange. The addresses of its registered office and principal place of
business of the Company were Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and Suite 305, Shui On Centre, 6-8
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in note 3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, 20235128318 IFEE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) which are
measured at fair values.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and actions, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in
the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 128318 [FFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is
held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to
reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or
loss.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates
at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have
been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in equity.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.4 Plant and equipments

Plant and equipments are initially recognised at acquisition cost,
including any cost directly attributable to bringing the assets to
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.
They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 3 years
Computer equipments 3 years

Estimates of residual value, depreciation methods and useful
lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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2. TESHEEME @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 €@ I A

2.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than financial assets
at FVTPL) and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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2. TESHEEBRE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 €@ T A @)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “revenue” in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI or designated as FVOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or loss
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses, net”
in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) will be
recognised on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including other receivables, bank balances and
cash held by securities brokers). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 month after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance
equals to 12-months ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable,
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

including historical experience and

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

economic,
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain/loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount.
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2. TESHEEBRE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 €@ T A @)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include loan from a securities
broker, other payable and accruals, borrowings, convertible
notes and leases liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction
costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges, if applicable, are reported in profit or
loss are included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.7.

Borrowings (including loan from a securities
broker)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Other payable and accruals

Other payable and accruals are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes which entitle the holder to convert the notes
into a fixed number of ordinary shares at a fixed conversion price
are regarded as compound instruments consist of a liability and
an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the
liability component (including embedded nonequity derivative
features) is estimated by measuring the fair value and the
respective interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The fair
value of any derivative features embedded in the compound
instruments is included in the reserve component.

The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible
notes and the fair values assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the
notes into equity of the Group represents conversion options and
is included in equity as convertible notes reserve.

The liability component is carried as a liability at amortised cost
using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The derivative components are
measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in profit
or loss while the conversion option included in equity will remain
in reserve until conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
convertible notes reserves will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible notes, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.
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2. TESHEEBRE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 €@ T A @)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group appears to
be less than the fair value of the convertible notes issued, the
Group measures the unidentifiable consideration received (to be
received) as the difference between the fair value of the
convertible notes issued and that of the identifiable consideration
received, and the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of the convertible
notes are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible notes based on their relative
carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the
equity component is charged directly to equity, while transaction
costs relating to the liability component are expenses.

Interest on the convertible notes are recorded on a daily basis
before maturity using the agreed interest rate.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost
and FVTPL, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to accumulated losses.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and securities brokers and short
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows presentation, cash and cash equivalents include cash held
by securities brokers and bank balances and cash.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to
the Group;

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
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2. TESHEEME @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.7 Leases (Continued) 2.7 HE @)

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for
lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Leases (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee (Continued)

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use
asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 month or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been presented in separate line item.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not
wholly within the control of the Group, are also disclosed as
contingent liability unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefit is remote.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The amount of share
capital recognised is determined using the nominal value and any
related transaction costs are deducted from the share premium.

2.10 Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment have been established.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. FEEFHEBEw

Policies (Continued)

211 BT % Bh

2.11 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Plant and equipments, right-of-use assets and the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent from those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at the cash-
generating unit level.

Impairment losses is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash
generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised. A reversal of such impairment is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises unless that
asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for the revalued amount.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.13 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits scheme

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries.

Payments to the MPF Scheme are recognised as expense when
employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

The Group’s obligations under MPF Scheme are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave;
maternity leave; and paternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible for
the entitlement of long service payments under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (“Employment Ordinance”) in the event of
the termination of their employment under the circumstances
specified in the Employment Ordinance. A provision is recognised
in respect of the probable future long service payments expected
to be made. The provision is based on the best estimate of the
probable future payments which have been earned by the
employees from their service to the Group to the end of the
reporting period.
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2. TESHEEME @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

214 B E R A
BB ARE SR o

215 5B 2 BT R E

2.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.15 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilites are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the
asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

B R IE R R EE

Policies (Continued)

2.15 Accounting for income tax (continued)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net

if, and only if,

(@  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the

recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current

tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on

either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets

are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.16 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and if that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.16 Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(v the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3. Adoption of New and Amendmentsto 3.

3.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs and
HKASs that are effective for annual period

beginning on 1 January 2023

In the Year, the Group had applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs adopted by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which were mandatorily effective of the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the  Insurance Contracts

October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS
17)

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12  International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

The adoption of the new and amendments to HKFRSs and
HKASSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.
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3. Adoption of New and Amendments to
HKFRSs and HKASs (Continued)

3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs and

HKASs

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs that have been issued but

are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

The directors anticipate that the application of all amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2, the Directors are required to make various
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of unlisted equity
investment

At year end date, the fair value of this investment was amounted to
HK$5,293,000 (31 December 2022: HK$20,187,000) with a fair value
loss of HK$14,894,000 in the Year (Year 2022: fair value gain of
HK$169,000) adjusted to investment revaluation reserve. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in estimations
relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value of the
unlisted equity investment.

Income taxes

At Year End Date, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to the tax losses of HK$445,962,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$434,762,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are more than expected, or there
are changes in facts and circumstances which result in revisions of
future taxable profits estimation, a material recognition of deferred tax
asset may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such recognition takes place.

B S8 & 5t {4 5 & )

RERAEEZ &5 R (FHNHE2)
5o EEAR B AT E R EAKRE
HZzEBENMBERTEELZ B G
AAREEe WERARBBEBRRITER
BEECRIEMHAEAEEZEARRE
He BRERTEELE[AAR -

AEBeRERTUHEMLFRBER
B A A ELERTR  BE@E
RIEFEELET 2HRH | 'J\EZHHF'EEJ
HRBRET MEAMEITREEE
FORREE - BIRME B RT 2 B RoR
%Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ@wuﬁﬁaf HIK

NTARBERR GHEAEEHT —
MHEEAZEERBERRAELEREE
RKABZBEBARZEIEBREEME
AATEERRZ EERIR

FETRARRZATE
i

RELHER - ILIBIRE 2 2 F1{E 55,293,000
#  Jr (2022412 B 31 H : 20,187,000
B YEBRAFEQAFEERE
14,894,000/ T (2022 F F £ : R FE W
#= 169,000 L) FHEEKR EEMFHEE -
RETEHBHERMTREBAE ABR
BAER P REEH - ZERA KM 2E
PAETREELTRABREZERD
F1E -

Frig®t

E/Q\f'z EE %XmﬂmiT\Eﬁﬁ
Al aﬁzzﬁﬁ L %4 78 &5 18 445,962,000/ TT
(2022412 A 31 H : 434,762,000 7T ) f&
.deﬂjﬁlﬁé?F BREMBEEZER
BENTFBHRBEERTAIEIFEARR
/ﬁﬂ°1ﬁPﬁE$ZE%$XF€%%RE§ﬂJ
ZRIEH - HEFERBRABEMES MU
@zﬂkaﬂz%mﬂ’iéﬁ)ﬁiﬁﬂlﬂﬁﬁ-EIJT €A
BRENEERIBEEE  WHRIELER
ZHABE R ER -
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5. Segment Information

HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly

reviewed by the CODM, being the only executive director of the
Company, in order to allocate resources and to assess performance.
The CODM reviews the Group’s investment portfolio and profit or loss
as a whole, which is determined in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, for performance assessment, up to 9 June 2021.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

The position of executive director has been vacant from 10 June 2021.
Moreover, due to the nature of the Company’s business the Board
continues the view that no operating segment information shall be
presented.

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is generated from, and non-current assets (other
than financial instruments) are located in Hong Kong.

Dividend income from the Group’s investment contributed over 10% of
the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are as follows:

Investee A EZRERAA
Investee B EXHERNTB
Investee C 2 X IERFIC
Investee D X ENAD

EXEVBRELAFESRERERBEHE
BREREE (AR —RITES)
FTHBRNZAEERND 2 AP ®REE
EHBEEDTE UDEERLFHEE
B TBEERARERIAEE B8
WEHEAFMRFKEE(BRERERZ
CHRREBEE)NETRBAFNGH EZE
20216 A9H k- Bt AEE W £ 5
TRINEEDEER -

2021 F6 4108 MITEE — BN A
BT - ARABIZEBHEE EFESH
BFEHERER Bt WEZI &L D

i 3 & ¥
AEBMZBRAKRBERE MEFRBDE
EGHER T AN TMIREE -

HEKRFE R2022FFE HAREE
BUAI0% A E 2 REFRER B BKA
I

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET THET
1,147

1

12

6
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Gross Proceeds from Operations/ 6.

Revenue

The following table shows the gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL which are revenue in nature for tax purposes and the
revenue of the Group, which represents the dividend income:

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL which are revenue in

nature for tax purposes FTiS R IE 438
Dividend income N ON

HEBRAFEFABRSZEME
EGBRBEME R RaEEE) 2

A

REFTIS

B WA

TRETHERAVEFABRZZEZ®
BEGIRBEME RBENEE) 2MBER
HEBARAER 2R HEREWA

15

T

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TRERT THET
3,095

1,176

4,271

Revenue in the Year represents dividend income of HK$30,000 (Year
2022: HK$1,176,000).

7. Other (Losses) and Gains, Net 7.

Fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL — gain (loss)
— capital in nature for tax purpose
— revenue in nature for tax purpose

ATERH — U (518
— BT EAEAIE
— BB T E B E

BATVEFABREZEZHEE

R E WA F5 B B A 30,0005 Tt (2022
FEE 1,176,000 7T) °

Hih(BHE) Rz F8
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
(5,565) 4,534
(5,912) (1,609)
(11,477) 2,925

The fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL comprised of net
realised losses for disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of
HK$27,343,000 (Year 2022: HK$21,664,000). Theses figure represent
the difference between proceeds on disposal and the original costs of
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL.

BAFEFAEBSEZSREEAFEE
FEEHERAFTEFABZZERE
B 2 B #I5% E51827,343,00075 7T (2022
FFEE 0 21,664,0008 ) WEEH 2
AEERQATFEFABSZEMEEN
FTEREMEBARNREZ Z5EM
B o
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8. Other Income 8. Hitlr A
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FE T
Insurance claim from car accident EHEBEIMREBRES(E —
Government subsidy (Note) BT 48 Bh (GE) 192
Mandatory Provident Fund wHEATES R

— forfeited contribution of ex-employee —FIEE B2 Z K -

Others — Proceeds on disposal of His — HEBEMIIRD

automobiles previously E TS
written off 103
295
Note: Wage subsidies were granted from the Hong Kong Government’s T O202FE  BEABBEMNIBEREE
Employment Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund for the use of IR EFE BRI EMBAIEIH
paying wages of employees from May to July 2022 during Year 2022. 20225 AE7T BEIMEETE -
9. Finance Costs 9. BF ¥ B Z

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
Interest on loan from a securities broker REBHELZERFE 1,106
Interest expenses of convertible notes AMRERCAMERAE -

1,106
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10. RSB FE XX

10. Income Tax Expense

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made since there was no AR AEBERMEFELEELERH
assessable profit for both years. wmA W EL BB FESTAELBE -

Reconciliation between income tax expense and loss before income

BERBREFEZAEHAXERE

tax at applicable tax rates: WA 1E 2 ¥R
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT
Loss before income tax bR BT1S B AT 5 18 (22,401) (4,807)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of A TS T & 16.5%
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (20224 : 16.5%) 5T H 2 F1E (3,696) (793)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for MG ENTENRMAS 2
tax purpose M E 1,893 520
Tax effect of income not taxable for A BT RBAZ
tax purpose Hsge (991)
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREHUEEZERE BB TE
recognised (84)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AR ZHRIEEB 2RI E 1,384

Income tax expense

P15 15 5 X2

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$445,962,000 (31 December 2022: HK$434,762,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses are
subject to the agreement from the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department and may be carried forward indefinitely.

AR

R2022F 12 A31H  AEB Z KHAHK
T [ 18 445,962,0007% JT (2022412 A 31
H : 434,762,000/ 7T ) A A3 7 K 85 K 2K
B R A s F R 2 A AT BB - i
WEBEREEHIBEEE NMEEBAERS
EERMBRRAE B JERBRRIEHE -
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11. Loss for the Year M1FEFE
Loss for the Year had been arrived at after charging: FEBEDSNBR TY&E:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FA&T
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@ EIRAK(BEESHMH) ()
remuneration) (Note)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMETR 3,894
Discretionary bonus BB IEAT 259
Contributions to retirement benefits RORAE M ET &I R
scheme 171
4,324
(b) Other items (b) Hfb1EH
Depreciation, included in administrative TRAZXBEETZHE:
expenses:
— Owned assets —BEEE 185
Auditors’ remuneration 1% AT B & 600
Note: At Year End Date, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to 3 OREHEB AEBRMESME I UHE
reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (31 oAl H A R EE ok R @) iR K A8 F 5
December 2022: HK$0). %\J B (202212 A310: B

BT °
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12. Directors’ Emoluments 12.EEM &
Emoluments paid or payable to the Directors were as follows: ENsENESZME0T :
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
BIRERGE
HweE FHeRER BETEA it st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FET FHT FET
Year KEE
Name of Director EEHE
Non-executive Director: HHITESE -
Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen BeRELE
(Chairman) (&)
INEDs: BIFHTEF -
Mr. Feng Nien Shu WMk E
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard BIKREE
Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa EBEL L
Mr. Ip Kwok Kwong (Note) B EEGE)
Note: Mr. Ip Kwok Kwong was appointed as INED on 31 May 2023. T ERNEAE2023F5A31HELZES
BUERITES -
Year 2022 20226 F ¥
Name of Director EEHE
Non-executive Director: HHITESE -
Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen e RELE
(Chairman) (&) - - - - -
INEDs: BIFHTEF -
Mr. Feng Nien Shu LWk E 100 — - - 100
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard BRREE 100 — — - 100
Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa EBEBEL L 100 — — - 100

300 — — — 300
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12.

13.

Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

The executive Director’'s emolument shown above was for his service
as director and in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive Director’s and INEDs’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors.

No emolument were paid by the Group to any Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during both years.

Five Highest Paid Individuals’
Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, none
was a Director (Year 2022: none). The emoluments of these 5 (Year
2022: 5) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits FekEMER
Discretionary bonus BB IEAT

RRAE A GBI

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme

12.EEM € w

EXARZATESHE RENELE
EREEARBRAEEEEZHE -

EXRZIERTEERBIUIFNTE

EMERAREETEF M -
RMEFERN AEEYTEREIFNES

XHME AMERMBINMBEREE
B 2 Bk (E BB 2w fE -

MEENREZENZMEFEANREXF
EREEAME L5 -

BLHEESHFMALHE

REBREESTFMATHLIETIME
L (2022F FE : ) o %54 (2022F F
B:5R)ATZEE&MT :

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER THAT
2,646

208

141

2,995
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13. Five Highest Paid Individuals’
Emoluments (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

B.HERSFHALHFSw

BEZMENFTIIHE:

2023 2022

No. of No. of

employee employee

EEAH EEAH

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 /N8 331,000,000 7% 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /% 7T £ 1,500,000/% 7T 1

No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during both years.

14. Loss Per Share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

Loss attributable to owners of the Company AR Q GG AEGEER (THET)

RMEFE AEBITEAREESH
M/\iﬁzﬁﬁﬂﬂé\’M{’Fi%ﬁﬂﬁﬂjiﬁ’\m?é
REBRZ HM S ERRR 2 #E

14.85RE1E

7 R A A A 1R T 4
ST

2023 2022

(HK$°000) (22,401) (4,807)
Restated
E75
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st E G R E1E 2 B & T E @R
in issue for the purposes of loss per share 7][] EFEHE(F Hx)
(in thousands) 1,211,320 1,211,320

For the Year, the computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible
notes since their assumed exercise would result in a decrease in loss
per share. For the Year 2022, the diluted loss per share was the same
as basic loss per share as there was no potential dilutive ordinary share
outstanding during the Year 2022.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year
ended 31 December 2022 has been adjusted retrospectively to reflect
the capital reorganisation completed 13 December 2023.

HRAFE FESREEFEER TR
HARRMAL BT RBEEREE T
B REARRELVMEERNEGRERER
Do gh2022FME  SREEFEES
BREREEMRR - REAR2022FKEE
ERTEMATHZEABSERRE -

2022F 12 A3IHILFEEBHITEBRN
MEFEHEIELBPARE U RBE2023
F12A13H MR AEA -
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15. Plant and Equipments

15. E K& E

Office
equipment,
Motor furniture Computer
vehicles and fixtures equipments Total
WAERE -
RE  ERREE ERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Cost R A
At 1 January 2022 202241 81H — 21 59 80
Additions NE 950 — — 950
At 31 December 2022 and HR2022F12 31 B &

1 January 2023 202341 HA1H 950 21 59 1,080
At 31 December 2023 A2023F12831H 950 21 59 1,030
Accumulated depreciation E- =
At 1 January 2022 H2022%1 818 — 3 12 15
Charge for the year FE kR 159 7 19 185
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12 318 &

1 January 2023 2023%F1HA1H 159 10 31 200
Charge for the year FENK 189 7 15 211
At 31 December 2023 #R2023F12H31H 348 17 46 411
Carrying values BREE
At 31 December 2023 #"2023F12H31H 602 4 13 619
At 31 December 2022 M2022F12 A31H 791 11 28 830
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16. Financial Assets at FVOCI/FVTPL

Unlisted equity investment designated at

Bl W
NBX

BERBAFEFAEMZERK

:/lz
o=

!

<
A

Y
i EL*
ﬁ

FVOCI (Note) w2 I EmRARE (M)
Non-current portion Ik 7 B 2643
Listed equity investments classified as DI AEANFEF ABE
financial assets at FVTPL which is capital BEZETBRAEE

in nature for tax purpose

£ 2 & @l

HptBigms AEARNME

Current portion B3 17

Listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at FVTPL which is revenue
in nature for tax purpose

BimE sKEEE

DE/BEAFEFABEZER
BEZ EMBRARE  HEH

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER THAT
20,187

17,501

20,641

Note: The investment is not held for trading, instead, it is held for long-term
strategic purposes. The Directors have elected to designate this
investment in equity investments at FVOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit and loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding this
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance potential
in the long run.

At year end date, financial assets at FVTPL of HK$9,513,000 (31
December 2022: HK$26,997,000) were pledged to a securities broker
for the margin loan of HK$2,415,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$10,505,000) granted to the Group (note 19).

Mia: ZRELTHEEER  MEKBIERE
HE - BEECREREABRAREZER
EREAFEFAREC2ERZ AR
BERR NEATHERBZREZRT
EERRPRAEERAFEZRE
WRERBREERERT Z KA
7¥5(0

REHEB BE2FEFABGZZ S
& #E9,513,000% JT (2022912 A31 8 :
26,997,000 L) EEHR T — BB HK
CUNEBS—ERTFTAELEECHRE
2,415,000 JL(2022% 12 A 318 :
10,505,000 7T) (ff5E19) o
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17.

18.

19.

Other Receivables

Other prepayments and deposits HEMBEMNREBELRZS
Other receivables H fth fE U AR TR

7. B W AR 1A

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRERT TAET

1

1

2

Cash Held by Securities Brokers/
Bank Balances and Cash

The cash held by securities brokers carry interest at market rates which
range from 0% to 0.25% (Year 2022: 0% to 0.25%) per annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0% to
0.02% (Year 2022: 0% to 0.02%) per annum.

Loan from a Securities Broker

At Year End Date, the margin loan from a securities broker was secured
by a portfolio of financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin
account, with a total market value of approximately HK$9,513,000 (31
December 2022: HK$26,997,000). The Group’s margin loan has no
determined maturity date and is subject to interest specified from time
to time by the securities broker. The maximum amount of the margin
loan granted by the securities broker depends on the market value of
the assets pledged with the securities broker. Throughout the year, the
daily interest rate was ranging from 9.252% to 20.000% calculated on
365 days (Year 2022: 9.252% on the same calculation method). The
finance costs for the Year is set out in note 9.

19

BB 2RE
ERERE

BELOCHEZRERMBENENT
% 0.25% (2022 FFE 1 0% £ 0.25%)

RITHEBETHFFEN F0%ZE0.02%
(2022 % Z 1 0% £ 0.02%) 51 & °

RERBHFELZER

REHEB REABAKLCZHTRERD
HIFBREFETREE ZEATERA
BRzeMEBECZHEAET  @mE
4 /9,513,0007% JT (202212 431 8 :
26,997,000/ L) - AEBE 2 FFRE R
EBETIHE WEREFELTREIE
EZHEFE BEKLERTZAREE
RZEBERCEIARERTESLERL 2
BEZMBEE- ZJSEJ*AEM’LIJM\?
/$9.252% % 20.000% LA — %365 H 3

(2022 F F [ : 9.252%[A ;Hr”?i/?i)
NEZT B INAMFEO
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Borrowings

Loan from a director K E
Loan from a director of a subsidiary ®E—
Loan from a third party K E

20. 8 &

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAET
1,010

400

1,410

At Year End Date, the loan from a director and the loan from a director
of a subsidiary were unsecured, interest-free and repayable in six
months from the date of draw down.

Convertible Notes

On 29 December 2023, the Company issued convertible notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$4,000,000 after resolution was
passed by shareholders at the Special General Meeting on 11
December 2023 for such issue.

The convertible notes mature on 29 December 2025, bearing interest
at 8 percent per annum calculated on 360 days per year. On expiry, the
noteholders have an option to convert to shares or redeem the
convertible notes in full or in part.

In the event the convertible notes are fully converted to ordinary shares
of the Company, an additional 24,096,384 ordinary shares in the
Company will be issued to the noteholders, representing 16.59% of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company, together with an
additional interest of HK$320,000 payable to the noteholders.

21.

\i R -RE-EFZ2EFRRKE—
REAMEEZERLEET  RF 8
/,\E"/\1IHI9MT?H

TRREE

R2023F 12 A29H * AR R EITAE B
%4 /54,000,000 T2 AJ MR RE AR
7&?57\2028512)5]11EIZ”HEUHX?
ASRBRBRBES BT -

AR IR 20259 12 A29 A B & - I
EKAHBF8UTEAEBFI0ORAE - L
A TRBREREEANEESY
s Z8 15 A A% M ER Bl AR 4 o

EBRBREE2EBRK XAA)EH
1724,096,384 % @ & & 5 45 7 7] & B
FEFBA HERBERAARLETY
16.59% MBI N T AIRKREERFE
A320,0007% T F| & °

o1
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22, Share Capital 22, fg A<
Number of
shares Value
BRGOEE &8
HK$'000
THT
Authorised: EIE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each at R2021F1 18 ~ 20214

1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 12 H31H &2022%1H1H

31 December 2022 FR%0.0258 7T 2 E B 4,000,000,000 100,000
Share Consolidation (Note) & & o GGE) (1,090,188,200) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each after f%0.257%8 T 2 & @I

the Share Consolidation and HK$0.025 of  (B& 5 & #t18) & &% 0.025%

unissued shares T2 RBEITERAR 2,909,811,820 100,000
Share Subdivision (unissued shares) (Note)  B& 15 9 #F (R 3 1T) (3%) 97,090,188,180 -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 7202312 31 H

at 31 December 2023 FRL0.01E L 2 @Ak 100,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR:

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 7202151 A1 H ~ 2021 %

31 December 2022 12 A31H &2022%1 A1H 1,211,320,200 30,283
Share Consolidation (Note) &1 4a 6 GE) (1,090,188,180) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each after 1% 0.257% 7T 2 EiBAR

the Share Consolidation (1B HF18) 121,132,020 30,283
Capital Reduction (Note) A& A B Rk (GE) - (30,162)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at M2023%F 12 A31H

31 December 2023 FRRO.01 BT 2 Limik 121,132,020 121
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22. Share Capital (continued)

23

Note:

Pursuant to a special resolution for the capital reorganisation of the Company
passed in the special general meeting on 11 December 2023, the Company
undertook a capital reorganisation which comprised:

() the consolidation of every ten issued existing Shares in the authorised
share capital of the Company of HK$0.025 each into one consolidated
share of HK$0.25 (the “Share Consolidation”).

(b) the reduction of the issued share capital of the Company by cancellation
of the paid up capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.249 on each
of the issued consolidated share such that the par value of each issued
consolidated share was reduced from HK$0.25 to HK$0.001 (the “Capital
Reduction”).

(c) the subdivision of every unissued share of HK$0.025 in the authorised
share capital of the Company into twenty-five adjusted shares of
HK$0.001 each (the “Share Subdivision”).

Upon the effective of the capital reorganisation on 13 December 2023, the
reduced share capital of approximately HK$30,162,000 has been transferred to
the contributed surplus account of the Company.

Net Asset Value Per Share

Net Asset Value per share is computed based on the net assets value
of HK$6,996,000 (31 December 2022: HK$44,291,000) and
121,132,020 (31 December 2022: 121,132,020) issued and fully paid
Shares after capital reorganisation effective on 13 December 2023 at
the Year End Date.

22.

23.

N

LR PR2023F12AMMA AR XE b
i@ —BEBARRKRANERZFRIRE
HoAQRBETERAZTHE BIF:

@ BARAREAERAPETRIREE
0.025B T 2 EEITRAZEITRABERS
A BB EEC2E T2 A IR M®D
([B&1R& B -

() FEHREFHEADRABEZRA(UTRE
TAEHERH0.2498 T AR) 2 0 15
BREBTE TﬁHxTﬁZﬁTEEHOZS/%TE
Bl S8 2= 0.001 7 7T+ B BB AR 2
BATRAS (TR A HR) o

) HWBARBEERAFMEMBEO0.025ETTLZ
BERABETEHBROPTA-_TER
TR EE0.001T B L 2 L TR MK ([
MR e

f% AR E 40 A 2028 F 12 A13H £ 1% » BlR 2
A& AN #930,162,000/8 T E st AR R R Z BEHA
IR -

BREERE

EREEFEDDERERFEBZCEE
¥ (86,996,000 7T (2022412 A31 A -
44,291,000 L) R B 1T K2 &2
2 121,132,020 f% (2022 12 A 31 8 :
121,132,020 % ) A& 17 {£2023 412 A 13 H
EEEREMMKROEMLSE -
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24. Particulars of Investments Held by the

Group

Particulars of investments held by the Group at year end date disclosed

pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Proportion
of investee’s
Place of capital
Name Incorporation owned
RERES
REERZ
A8 LR AR 2 i B EAL A FE
HKS million
BEET
Listed equity securities
LTRAES
*ITC Properties Group Limited Bermuda 1.61% 4577
(00199.HK)
EHBESEARDA BRE
(00199.HK)
Blue River Holdings Limited Bermuda 0.26% 219
(formerly known as PYI
Corporation Limited)
(00498.HK)
EMERERLR (G BRE
REEEFRAA)
(00498.HK)
Link Real Estate Investment ~ Hong Kong 0.00012% 017
Trust (00823.HK)
FREMEREGRES FH
(00823.HK)
China Construction Bank PRC 0.000006% 012
Corporation (00939.HK)
FEBRBTRAERAAF #
(00939.HK)

* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2023

Cost equity securities

4. XEEEACREFE

AEBRFEAEEZREFBRE L
MABBNENSZWHENT :

Dividend

income Net assets

during attributable to Principal activities/places of
the year theinvestment operation

Fair values of
listed/unlisted

W/ L
BAES 2 FAZKRE REBEERL
A¥E WA BETE TR /Ceny
HKS million  HKS million HK$ million
BERT HEBIL BEBAT

54.77 Property development and investment,
hotel and leisure operations,
securities trading and loan
financing services/Hong Kong,
Macau, Canada, United Kingdom
and the PRC

NEBRRRE BERERES
2E EFEERETRER
B/BEORM MEX EA
R4

0.82 - 3.27 Infrastructure investment and the
operation of bulk cargo ports and
logistics facilities/PRC

HEREARARFHERORDR
RigE/ ME

0.13 0.003 0.21 Engaged in property development and
investment/Hong Kong, the PRC,
United Kingdom, Australia

WNEMEHRANZE /B
RE - RE RN

0.07 0.006 0.21 Banking and financial services/Global
operation

RITANERRY/2HES

* R2023F 12 A BHEZEARE



24. Particulars of Investments Held by the
GI"OUp (Continued)

2023 £ #H

« BEREERAIRAT

95

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n‘l-.R

AR IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #2023 12 318 L& E

Proportion Dividend
of investee’s Fair values of income
Place of capital listed/unlisted during
Name Incorporation owned Cost equity securities the year
RERES E®/%kER
RERBEZ RAESHZ FRAZRE
A1 k1 B 3L i B BEAL A RE AYE ['ON
HKS million HK$ milion  HKS million
BEET BEET HABAT
Baidu, Inc (09888.HK) Cayman 0.00002% 0.05 0.06 -
Islands
EEERGERA HeHS
(09888.HK)
Hong Kong Exchanges Hong Kong 0.0000158% 0.05 0.05 -
and Clearing Limited
(00388.HK)
ERRGREEMBRAR FE
(00388.HK)
Alibaba Group Holding Limited  PRC 0.000003% 0.49 0.38 -
(09988.HK)
MEBBREZRERAF 8
(09988.HK)
CK Infrastructure Holdings Bermuda 0.00004% 0.047 0.043 -
Limited (01038.HK)
RIEREEERARA ARE
(01038.HK)
AIA Group Limited Hong Kong 0.00004% 0.05 0.04 -
(01299.HK)
RARBERERA EB
(01299.HK)
Unlisted equity securities
FETRARS
** Wealth Spread Investment Hong Kong 14.70% 54.05 5.29 -
Limited
*REREBERAT Bk
* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2023 *
h The shares of Wealth Spread Investment Limited were obtained due to a ok

corporate restructure of Rakarta Limited

Net assets
attributable to
the investment

REBEEN
BERE
HK$ million
BEBT

0.04

0.008

0.028

0.049

0.049

(2.863

24, AEERE2REFBw

Principal activities/places of
operation

TEER/REBY

Internet content services, value-added
telecommunication-based services,
internet map services, online audio
and video services and mobile
application distribution businesses
inthe PRC

REMEBRBASRYE  HEEE
R EEMEERE 8%
ERBERBEAREDERS T
%%

Provision of market for stock and
commodity trading and exercise
continuing evaluation of listed

companies
AREMBERFRATSNEE
[N

Engaged in two core businesses:
e-commerce and cloud computing

HEMARLER  EBMEHE

Generate electricity in U.K., Australia,
New Zealand, Canada,
Netherlands, Hong Kong and
China

EEEE -
NGl

BN HER N2
BERTEETER

Insurance

ol

Investments in a subsidiary principally
engaged in zinc and lead mining/
the PRC

RERTERFH
AR/ HE

L RE I B

R2023F 12 A BHEZEARE

FRAEEAERRAANRKNDE

=N

E

Rakarta Limited 2 &) 22 78 PT 15
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24, AEERE2REFBw

24. Particulars of Investments Held by the
GI"OUp (Continued)

REBR2022F12 A1 BIF A 2 REH
BRELTRIFEANZHENT

Particulars of investments held by the Group at 31 December 2022
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Proportion Dividend
of investee’s Fair values of income Net assets
Place of capital listed/unlisted during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation owned Cost equity securities the year theinvestment operation
FEEES Ed/%kLER
REE®Z RAEHZ FAZRE REBEEM
A1 LR AR 2 i B EARL A FE ATRE WA BEFE FEER /LY
HK$ million HKS million  HKS million HK$ million
BEET BEET HAEBART BEET
Listed equity securities
LTRAES

*ITC Properties Group Limited ~ Bermuda 2.51% 71.23 22.94 115 96.40 Property development and investment,

(00199.HK) hotel and leisure operations,
securities trading and loan
financing services/Hong Kong,
Macau, Canada, United Kingdom
and the PRC

EENESEARDR BRE NEFRRRE BERERER
(00199.HK) 2E EFEERETRER

B/BE R MEX KE
R

* Greater Bay Area Dynamic Bermuda 4.94% 3513 4,06 — 87.06 Operation of hotel business/Hong
Growth Holding Limited Kong and the PRC
(01189.HK)

REEERNE EES BELHEE/FERTE
IRERAA
(01189.HK)

* Blue River Holdings Limited Bermuda 1.06% 17.81 10.81 - 19.89  Infrastructure investment and the
(formerly known as PYI operation of bulk cargo ports and
Corporation Limited) logistics facilities/PRC
(00498.HK)

TEAERARDR (AT BRE ERRENRRRHEEORDR
REEEERAA) Rt B/ HE
(00498.HK)

China Construction Bank PRC 0.00002% 0.12 0.07 0.01 0.18 Banking and financial services/Global
Corporation (00939.HK) operation

REERRITROERAR FHE ROMNSARE/ 2%kES
(00939.HK)

* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2022

* R2022F 12 A BHEZEARE
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24, Particulars of Investments Held by the 24. XEBRE A 2R EH B @
GI"OUp (Continued)

Proportion Dividend
of investee’s Fair values of income Net assets
Place of capital listed/unlisted during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation owned Cost equity securities the year theinvestment operation
RERES E®/%kER
REEREZ REEFEHE2 FAZKRE REBEAEN
A8 L MR AR 2 i B BEAR LAl RE ALE WA BEFE TR /CeEny
HK$ million HKS million  HKS million HK$ million
BEET BEET ABAT BEET
HSBC Holdings Pl England 0.00003% 0.13 0.08 0.006 0.12  Banking and financial services/Global
(00005.HK) operation
ELZERERRA B RITREARE/ 2IES
(00005.HK)
Tencent Holdings Limited Cayman 0.000004% 0.11 0.07 0.006 0.017  Provision of value-added services,
(00700.HK) Islands online advertising services, FinTech
and Business Services/
Global operation
BARZERERAR HERS REUEERY EREERE €
(00700.HK) BRBEMEERYE 2RES
Sun Hung Kai Properties Hong Kong 0.000017% 0.06 0.05 - 0.10  Property development and property
Limited (00016.HK) investment in Hong Kong, PRC
and Other
MBENERREARDA  FE NEFRRREBTERTE
(00016.HK)
Unlisted equity securities
FETRAES
* Rakarta Limited The BVI 14.70% 54.05 2019 - (2,545) Investments in a subsidiary principally
engaged in zinc and lead mining/
the PRC
* Rakarta Limited RBRAES RERTEREF RBFAROMNE
AR/

* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2022 * R2022F12A31EFEEZEAKRE
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24. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

An analysis of realised and unrealised losses is as follows:

24, AEERE2REFBw

ERRRABRERZHHMT :

Realised losses Cumulative

for equity unrealised losses for
investments equity investments
disposed held by the Group as
during the year at the reporting date
RBEBHEEERE

FAHEZREAR BZREABRENER
ENC#REE RBEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

(Note (ii)) (Note (iii))
GE0) (B 3 i)

31 December 2023
Hong Kong listed equity investments
Unlisted equity investment

2023F12A31H
BB LEMRARE
FLEMBEAREE

31 December 2022

2022 12H31H

(27,343) (36,356)

- (48,753)

(27,343) (85,109)

Hong Kong listed equity investments & _£ & A% & (21,664) (67,984)
Unlisted equity investment EEMBERAKZE - (33,859)
(21,664) (91,843)
Notes: M E
(i) For listed equity investments, net assets attributable to the investment are [0) S ETMIRAEEmMS  HEABEBRHERSE

based on latest published financial information of the relevant investment.
For unlisted equity investment, net assets attributable to investments are
based on latest financial statements or management accounts of the
investment.

(i) Realised losses during the year represent the difference between the
proceeds on disposal and the initial acquisition cost of the respective
investment in financial assets. Among the realised loss of HK$27,343,000
(Year 2022: HK$21,664,000), HK$4,688,000 (Year 2022: HK$21,664,000)
and HK$22,655,000 (Year 2022: HK$0) represented the realised loss on
the disposal of financial assets at FVTPL which are revenue and capital in
nature respectively for tax purposes.

(iii) Unrealised losses represent the difference between fair value and cost of
the respective investment in financial assets.

EFEDAEBEERB NEZ&M
MIEERBKE - BIELTRAKREM
o OREBEEBBEEFEIINRER
A& BRAKNEERBKE -

(i) FREZRBERELEEESREER

EZHBREHEEVRBERAZ =

8 o PA B B 1R [E5 18 27,343,00078 T (2022 FF

& €+ 21,664,000/8 JL ) 1 4,688,000

7 T (20224 F JE © 21,664,00008 7T) &

22,655,000 7T (2022 F E [F : T8 L)

%E.Hj%}ﬁﬁiﬁsr/\%a SrEBMAE

EEEEE ERBBEMms 55K
m&éizkliféfo

iy KEREBEEFHsREERECZA
FTEERBEZERE-
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25. Related Party/Connected Transactions 25.B&E 5 BEX 5

Except for the loan advanced from a director as disclosed in note 20, AT sF20 T B RE—SEE2E
the Group entered into the following related party/connected O MEEEARN NEBRETS AT
transactions during both years. BhHBEXS -
2023 2022
Name Relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
£ 2EES REME FET FET
Opus Capital Investment manager of Investment management 960
the Company fees expense
glE &R RRAF /B KR REEBERAY
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management FRN EERAERTEEEEBH MK
personnel of the Group during the year was as follows: B EHMMT :
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Directors’ remuneration EE=W 300
Short-term employee benefits HHEERA 1,820
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAE FIET B 3K 91
2,211
The emoluments of key management (excluding Directors) were within TEEEE(M"BRBESE)2MEe N T T
the following bands: LI ERE
2023 2022
No. of No. of
employee employee
EBEAH EE A
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 N8 381,000,000 7% 7T 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 78 7T
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26. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising
from Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows

26.

METHELEEBEZHE

TRAMASERELZHELABZE
B BERASKIFREEBH -BELY
MELABBEREIBRAREGAR S

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated MEeER T EARETHMEBREREZ
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. HeEReakAKREHRE -
Loan from
Convertible a securities
notes broker Borrowings Total
CIE:Y:)4 RERS
EE RKEZER BE #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT THAT FHET
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 1,410 11,915
Cash flows BeRE
— Proceeds from convertible notes —RATEBRER = 4,000
— Repayment of loan from a securities —BE®X E BHRELE
broker ZER (8,090) = (8,090)
— Loan interest expense paid —BENEFMER i (994) = (997)
— (Repayment) from loan from a director —EBE-BZEZER (410) (410)
— (Repayment) from loan from athird party —EE—F=H 28X (400) (400)
— Proceeds from loan from a director —KE—TRAES
of a subsidiary company BE R 1,140 1,140
Non-cash: FRE
— Interest expenses —FEMR% 997

At 31 December 2023

#2023F12 A31H

1,740

At 31 December 2021 72021512 A31H - 12,112 - 12,112
Cash flows BRemE

— Repayment of loan from a securities —BEX Q FBHEL

broker ZEX - (1,607) - (1,607)

— Loan interest expense paid - BENEHRMNER S‘Z - (1,106) — (1,106)

— Proceeds from loan from a director —XxB— % EZER — - 1,010 1,010

— Proceeds from loan from a third party —RE-F=ZFZER — — 400 400
Non-cash: FBRE -

— Interest expenses —FBHEX - 1,106 - 1,106
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 A31H — 10,505 1,410 11,915
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27. Statement of Financial Position of the 27. & A T 2~ Bl #& 4k R &
Company

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIFBARZIKE 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU — M8 A B 3B 21,174
21,175
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JIE U B /8 A R FR B 38,877
Other receivables H fth fE U AR TE -
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 34
38,911
Current liabilities REBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEATHY B A AR IE 15,625
Other payable and accruals Hith A ARIBE M EETERIA 2,906
18,531
Net current assets RBEETFE 20,380
Long term liability RPEE
Convertible notes Al AR =R -
Net assets EEFE 41,555
Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital A& 75 30,283
Reserves (Note () o 18 (P 3EG) 11,272

41,555
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27. Statement of Financial Position of the

Company (continued)

27. 7 » F] Z B & AR &/ @)

Note (i): B 5 ()

Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
B’ 17 28 B EfAE% RitEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T T T T FHET
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12 A31 H 192,895 128,754 (305,377) 11,272
Loss for the year FEEIE - - - -
At 31 December 2022 R20229F12 A31H 192,895 128,754 (305,377) 11,272
Loss for the year FEERB - - (125) (125)
Capital Reduction (Note) BRI (GE) — 30,162 — 30,162
At 31 December 2023 A2023F12A31 A 192,895 153,916 (305,502) 41,309

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Shares issued by the Company for the
acquisition of GR Investment Holdings Limited (“GRIH”) and the
consolidated net assets value of GRIH at the time it was acquired by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in 2001.

Under the Companies Act (1981) of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus is distributable to the Shareholders, provided that
the Company is, after the payment of dividends out of the contributed
surplus, able to pay its liabilities as they become due; or the realisable
value of the Company’s assets would thereby not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and reserves.

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
at Year End Date (31 December 2022: HK$0).

Note: Capital re-organisation effective on 13 December 2023.

ARw 2 BE#EGESRE KRR E2001
FREESARARTAUBER AR FEK
BoRAIRMBTZROEERSIRE
RemABEFEZER-

RIS SEE(981F) A aEEER])
BHBHBUDRTRE HAZTHEH
TR EE ARFIABENEELE
HeaE XAQAREEZASEEEBET
BRAKMEREEE BHITRARMF
W2 AN -

REER  ARRBE]BIESR T&R
B (202212 A31H : T8 7T) ©

T 2028F12 A13H AWM AEM -
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Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEARERE

Place of
incorporation

&F 8 B 37 it 36

Directly held by the Company:

MAQREERHE:

Accufocus Investments Limited

Carson Capital Resources Limited

REEABERAR

The BVI

REBELES

Hong Kong

)

Indirectly held by the Company:

HADRAMEERSS:

GR Investment Holdings Limited

TREIRERAA

Genius Choice Investments Limited

Easy Ace Investments Limited

Ever Honest Investments Limited

Prosperity Management Services

Limited

REEERBERLA

Rich Concept Investments Limited

Hong Kong

A
The BVI

RERLES

The BVI

EBRAES

The BVI

REBELES

Hong Kong

EiE

The BVI

REBEUES

Issued and fully paid share

capital/paid-in capital
BETRBERE
BEARK

100 shares of USD1 each

100 EREEIETL

iheh)

1 ordinary share

1REBR

899,900,000 ordinary shares

899,900,000 /% & 18 I
1 share of USD1 each

1RERAEIETLZ
B

1 share of USD1 each

1REREEIETZ
R fn

1 share of USD1 each

TREREEIETZ

iheh)

2 ordinary shares

21K E Ak

1 share of USD1 each

TREREEIETZ

ihgh)

2. KA RAEEMBE AT Z

,lEE

MR20234F K2022%12 A31H KA A & &£
EWBARIZHBHOT

£ 1]
d

Attributable
equity interest

Principal activity/
Place of operation

FE 1 AR A 25
2023

TRER ERBY
2022

100% Investment holding/
The BVI
BEERS

REBRUHS

100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REERBE

100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
BERR /B

100% Investment holding/
The BVI
BEERS

HERUHS

100% Investment holding/
The BVI
"EER

HERUHS

100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER/BE

100% Provision of corporate
management
services within the
Group/Hong Kong

AR B R
XEBRYEBE

100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER/BE
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28. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of

29

the Company (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of both report periods, the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. The majority of the subsidiaries are
intermediate holding companies or inactive during the both years.

Subsidiaries of the Company are operating in Hong Kong.

Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments,
other receivables, cash held by securities brokers, bank balances and
cash, loan from a securities broker, borrowings, other payable and
accruals and convertible notes. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

29.

TENBAAZ

8. & A\ 7]
a'%()

PREFEER AT B SR EE R
SEEZADAHEAN  EERAR

HEMMBARZHFBETERERARN
T e

RMEREHR NRRR#HEEME R
EEMmMELNTNEZ 2B AR KED

MEBAR AT ERAE KN M EFE
Hizgxo
NN P 5} RIEBEEE-

REBZIZeRIABEREAERE

HMEREE B5E&LBEe2zie
RUTEHRRES RAEBHFLELZE

Ko B pEBRIE R EETRRIE & Al A AR
ZRE -SRI AZHBRBEBENTE
WE BNE4MITAEBR AR BIE
MR (E¥ER - A Xk REMmE
*%Euﬂﬁﬂ)‘ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁ&%%ﬁﬂ“wﬁu
fa] ﬁﬁﬁt%ﬂAZﬁMﬁﬁATX
E.EE&?T It 55 B B DA B AR
SEREMBEBEE -
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 20. M EEREERAFE

Value Measurements (continued) A = (@)
29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities VITHEEREEER
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of RAMBEMRRARTY 2 RmESR
financial position relate to the following categories of financial T2 EERETEAGEHEDR
assets and financial liabilities: B -
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FE T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost WEHEKAHEZCREE
— Other receivables — E b fE U BRI 2
— Cash held by securities brokers —BHEREHEZRE 63
— Bank balances and cash —RITEHRERE 392
457
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEGFAERZZ
TRMEE 38,142
Financial assets at FVOCI EAFEFAEMEZEREZ
THREE 20,187
58,329
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKNATECSREBE
— Loan from a securities broker —REFHFLLZERK 10,505
— Other payable and accruals — E b JE < BRIB K FE TR 18 3,410
— Borrowings —EE 1,410
— Convertible notes — AR ER -

15,325
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0. ,\71 BRMEERAFHE

Value Measurements (continued)

EH&)
29.2 Market risk 20.2 T 35 & B
(i) Currency risk () E¥ERE
Certain assets are denominated in USD and RMB which ETEEIUNETRARE

(ii)

are foreign currencies of the relevant group entities. No
sensitivity analysis is presented due to the Directors believe
the foreign exchange exposure is insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances, cash held by
securities brokers and loan from a securities broker. The
Directors consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk is not significant as interest-bearing bank
balances and cash held by securities brokers and loan
from a securities broker are within short maturity periods.

The Group’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk arises
from convertible notes. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value
interest rate risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

(ii)

AE MEIRARBRE
REBER I -BEFER
A ONEE [ B B A 3
2N HEGRE D

RN £ (8 3 B 3 4 S0 B O IR
FeoAm BEEGEEIN
ERR AKEFEREE
HihEBRINE R

FEER

RNEB AR AR EMNER
THSB BFRLLEREZR
ehREBAERLZERZ
BeRnEMNERR -BEFR
R ARFTERITHER F
FREFAEZRERRERE
HREE BTN ERRN
E'JHH' EE AR EErARZ

REMEFERELILAERX -

AEBEERHQFEMNE
R A RRABREREE- B
Al AEEIRE BT
E IAA Uﬁ/ﬁlﬂ’“zlzﬁﬂ

Rl Am BEBHERE
EM%H#‘JFEK%UTH 2 e
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 9. BREMEERATLHE
Value Measurements (continued) T E @

29.2 T 35 & B2 (@)
(iii) EtEE AR

29.2 Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than changes
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The Group is
exposed to change in market prices in respect of its
investments in listed equity classified as financial assets at
FVTPL and unlisted financial assets classified at FVOCI as
disclosed in note 16 and note 24 respectively. To manage
its market price risk arising from these investments, the
Group diversifies its portfolio.

Sensitivity analyses

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting
date.

If the prices of the respective financial assets at FVTPL had
been 10% (Year 2022: 10%) higher/lower, pre-tax loss for
the year would decrease/increase by HK$1,078,000 (Year
2022: pre-tax loss for the year would decrease/increase by
HK$3,814,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in
fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis of financial asset at FVOCI is disclosed
in note 29.5.

EmERERERNESRIA
ZAFEIRKRERER
B &1L (B & R HIME & & &
{EBRON) ok &) 2 Bl b o AN &
EEERESEEREATE
HABGzeMEEZ LD
BRAAEEGERZATE
FFAEMEEKE ZIE LT
PREECKREMARZTE
(D RHTEI6R
Msro4prit ) - RERZSE
REEEZzTERR K&
EomEKREMRSE -

BREDN
T XU E 5 AT T AR 4R
EAMAZZBRAERRR

Bx -

WEBEZEAFEFAERZ
TREEZBE LT TEK
10% (2022 F F Z : 10%) * &
SEFERBATEEBR
L /4 11,078,000 7T (2022
FFEE:FEBRMATEER
b /18 413,814,000 7T) » Jh
HREATEFAERZZS
BMEEAFELREHME -

BERAFAEFAEME2ER
ZEMEEZHEEDNA
B 3£29.57 # 5& -
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair O.MEBERRBEERAFE
Value Measurements (continued) T2 m
29.3 Liquidity risk 093 RBEEER
Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group will not be able BB RBIEAEBEELET
to meet its obligations with its financial liabilities. The Group is ﬁﬁpﬁﬁ BEK AR AEER
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of other payable EEHMMENMNEBLESER N
and accruals and its financing obligations, and also in respect of ERmBEEBTRHERERESREEIE
its cash flow management. MASZREE SRR -
The following table shows the Group’s remaining contractual TRERAEHBSRBEZAE T
maturity for its financial liabilities which are included in the AHH(EREALEERSES
maturity analysis provided internally to the key management EEmMAEARNLREBZEEABEIR
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity risk. T B HES ) o
More than
one year
Within one but less Total
year or than two contractual Carrying
on demand years cash flows amount

—FRx® HBE-F EHEE
BRER BRAME REAE REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$000
TET TET TR TET

As at 31 December 2023 A 20231231 H
Loan from a securities broker 3 8 F 5 &K 48 2

Other payable and accruals ~ E th JiE < BR 18 %
FEEHBRIE

Borrowings BE

Convertible notes AR R &

As at 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H
Loan from a securities broker 3 B F A5 &K 42 2

B® 10,505 - 10,505 10,505
Other payable and accruals ~ H {th &~ BRTB 2

fEat AR IR 3,410 - 3,410 3,410
Borrowings BE 1,410 — 1,410 1,410

15,325 — 15,325 15,325
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0. Bt % &l b2
Value Measurements (continued) iTE @

204 ZERKE

EERAQVE

29.4 Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised
financial assets is limited to their carrying amounts as disclosed
in note 29.1.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
each individual debtor. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
uses past and forward-looking information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. The
management would make periodic collective and individual
assessment on the recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience. The financial assets of the Group
which are subject to ECL assessment comprises other
receivables, cash held by securities brokers and bank balances
and cash. The management of the Group reviewed and assessed
the impairment for each financial asset individually under the 12
months ECL model. There is no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and the risk of default is low and the
counterparties have the capacity to meet their contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. No loss allowance was
recognised as the amount was immaterial.

AEBERHFHRERTEMEN
CAEERBRUBRRAAEZ
EERR  —RARKEMBIRRE
s HEEEREREEZR
M {EFTEL

Z’-‘E..Eﬁguméﬁﬁéﬁo\gkﬁ%
ZEmEERRE NZZEeREE
mWﬁwJ%ﬁ%ZEEﬁﬁﬁo

AREREKEERKR EREEZ
KEEEK BEETEERE-
EMNEEREMERER  BRE
B BREITE) IR B R HAE 75 o it o -
AEEERABEHEEBBEEAR
R1IEJE%%/\L”5WTEEWE flg

CEERAE AKEZEER
ERE?('FE/JEX?"

RABEERBREEMS  A%E
FRBERAEEER  UFHE
ERBRED G VA ERERZSE
m-EEEEREELEELHER
BAELCBRATKEMEEEEHE
BRERTM AEBEREREER
BEFGZEHEEREHME
WEETH  BAELLBEZREUAR
RITHEHBERS AEEEEESR
ﬁ&%ﬁmﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
A TZEReRmEENRERR
BYREREEER wm%%
%M‘L&ﬂﬂﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁ
REHARBREIRZEEGHNERS
REET HRESEITER W
ERREBEE -
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair

Value Measurements (continued)

29.4 Credit risk (Continued)

Cash Held by Securities Brokers and bank
balances and cash

At Year End Date, the Group has a concentration of credit risk in
respect of cash as 97% (31 December 2022: 14%) held by bank/
securities brokers and the total balance was held by one (31
December 2022: one) bank/securities broker. The Directors
consider that such concentration of credit risk would not result in
any default exposure to the Group because the counterparty is a
broker with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in respect of bank
balances which are held by three banks. Bank balances were
placed at financial institutions that have sound credit rating. The
risk of default is low and the Group considers the credit risk to be
insignificant.

29.5 Fair values measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability of significant inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

° Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

o Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly, and not using significant unobservable
inputs.

o Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

.J%H%

Ew

204 Z E &k @)

BRAFE

HAEREFAZRERRE
THHERRAS

REZKB AEERIRT EBHL
UBBZHREMASTEEESE
B o Utk Th R R 48 A #2997 % (2022
F12A31H 1 14%) B — % (2022
F12A31B : —R)FRT/EBERK
KEBE -ARRSHFHAEARE
EFSRERBEEESREEIR
CREAN BEERB BHEES
FRER ST E AL E@ERE
Al 4R & o

AEBERR=MEGT 2 RTE
BEEEEEPER - BITRERE
MRS BT AR 62 S B IE < 2
WEBREAFEERAREA
T

THMITREZQAFEE

VRAMBRRRPRAFER
EZeREERABERBER =M
ERZAFEER ZEAFRIR
B EMBERBABEZABE
BESRE WT:

F1g - HREERABBERE
Bz RECRERAR) -

o F2M: FIMPAEHME AN
ZAHEERHEHEERZEE
ZEERAE BXIFER
EATABERH AR -

s FIFBATUBRZEE
HEEHAE-

EeRMAEZEBHET  AVE
BRZAFERHAFHIES
EARE 2 REBAEKT -
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

LU BEAREERATHE

=
E (&)

29.5 Fair values measurements of financial 205¢MIT A AFETE @

instruments (continued)

The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position on a recurring basis are grouped
into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

VRAMBRRRAUEE LR
7 EAEFTE%%ZQEWQETJ%J

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EAR E28 E3R st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
31 December 2023 2023 12H31H
Financial assets at FVTPL ?ﬁ NS $ Tﬁ FFAEEZ
— Listed equity investments — FmRERAEE
Financial assets at FVOCI RN EEAEAM
2HREZERMEE
— Unlisted equity investment —FEETRAKE
Total HBEt 5,293 16,071
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL BATFEFABERZ
TRMEE
— Listed equity investments — EIRAKRE 38,142 — — 38,142
Financial assets at FVOCI BRAFEFTAEM
ZHREZERMEE
— Unlisted equity investment —JEETRAKRE — - 20,187 20,187
Total st 38,142 — 20,187 58,329

There were no transfers between the levels during the Year (Year
2022: Nil).

The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL was determined by
reference to the quoted bid price in the active market.

RAFEE  SSH 2 M EEE
(2022F F [ : £E) »

TZE’A?TE.#)\TE fZEMEELZ
RFEDSEERTH EZEA
BmEEE -
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0. Bt i% BEREERERAEE
Value Measurements (continued) T E @
29.5 Fair values measurements of financial 2954 MTEZAFEEEmW
instruments (continued)
The information about the fair value of the unlisted equity EREEFEIRNANTLEE LA
investment categorised under Level 3 fair value hierarchy are as ZIHELETTEAREEANTFEZER
follows: mR
Fair value as at Valuation technique(s)
31 December and key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
RERMRER
R12A31BZ AT & WAE ERFUEHEBAE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

20,187 Discounted cash flows Discount rate of 20.96% (31 December 2022: 20.27 %)
ABBRERE — BRIE R 520.96% (2022512 A31 H : 20.27%) :

Forecasted production volume of 220,000 (31 December
2022: 220,000) tonnes per year
— BB E 2 B & F220,000M (2022 12 A31 8 :
220,000 :

Forecasted selling price with base price of RMB2,007 (31
December 2022: RMB2,027) per tonne and price
changes over the projection period; and

— TERIHEEAGH AR 20077t (2022412 A 31

H: ARB2,027T) n A EERBABRA 2 EEE
&k

Marketability discount of 20.50% (31 December 2022:
20.50%)
— W35 R B M 4T 1 A20.50% (2022412 A31 8 -
20.50%)
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair O.8 IR E
Value Measurements (continued) iTE @

BRAFE

205¢MIT A AFETE @

29.5 Fair values measurements of financial

instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analyses

A 2% increase or decrease in the discount rate used in isolation
would decrease or increase the fair value measurement of the
unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets at FVOCI
approximately by HK$2,552,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$4,049,000) and HK$4,215,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$4,821,000), respectively.

A 10% increase or decrease in the forecasted production volume
used in isolation would increase or decrease the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVOCI approximately by HK$2,059,000
(31 December 2022: HK$2,647,000) and HK$2,322,000
(31 December 2022: HK$3,165,000), respectively.

A 10% increase or decrease in the forecasted selling price used
in isolation would increase or decrease the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVOCI approximately by HK$3,747,000
(31 December 2022: HK$5,221,000) and HK$2,256,000
(31 December 2022: HK$5,221,000), respectively.

A 2% increase or decrease in the marketability discount used in
isolation would decrease or increase the fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets at
FVOCI approximately by HK$75,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$383,000) and HK$76,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$383,000), respectively.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

BRES M

E IR 2 B I8 R IE R 2%
BB ER DY ERBERAFETA
Htprml Bz s e MEEZIE L
MBRAFHFZ2 AFEFTERD K
#80 #)2,522,0007%8 Tt (2022 F 12 A
31 H 4,049,000 Jt ) }4,215,000
7 7T (2022412 A 31 A : 4,821,000
BT e

B A 2 TR E 2 sk R
10% KD SR D EREZATE
AR EEKRE EREEZ
FELTRAFTHFZAFEF=E
08k R A #92,059,00078 T (2022
F12 A31H 2,647,000/ 7t ) &
2,322,000 7T (2022412 A31H :
3,165,000/ 1) °

BB E A 2 TE R 8 6 B 18 0 R
L10% D BB RS B REAFE
AR EEREZERMEEZIE
FBRARESFZ AT EFTEE Nk
B L #73,747,0007% Tt (20224F 12 A
318 15,221,000 7t ) 2,256,000
7 7T (2022412 A 31 H : 5,221,000
ETT) °

BIEFE R 2 ™5 P IE hn sk
WA 2% DR EH S EAERAT
Bt \Eth2AREZEREEY
FEMRAFES 2 AFEFERD
3k 1 0 975,000 JT (2022F 12 A
31H : 383,000 JT) &% 76,0007 JT
(2022412 431 H : 383,000/ 7T) °

AEERBHRKAARZERE
ERABEZAFERBEUARS

MESMERARREBEINET -
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

29.5 Fair values measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements of financial asset

.Ji%ﬂl‘ﬁ“ BERAFE

Ew

05EMITE2AFEFTE®@

TREEEIR L TFEE
BZHEE
Unlisted equity

securities classified
as financial assets

at FVOCI

PEREATE

5T H Ath 2w U =

ZEMEEZ

FELEHRAES

HK$'000

FAT

At 31 December 2021 2021 F12 A31 H 20,018
Gain recognised REMEZERAX

in other comprehensive income R 2 Wam 169

At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 20,187
(Loss) recognised REMEERALZ

in other comprehensive income mRZEE (14,894)

At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 5,293

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of its financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

BRAFEFAEMZE RS Z K
ATRAZEREHRBRBAFEGE
ERAFEEFEL 2R RER
REMEZHREEBLRFAER
BEMFHE-

EERES ERNRAVBRRLE
HRAARZEBREERTRA
BZREEEEQAFERE
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30. Capital Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Company had issued convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$4 million before Year End Date.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share repurchase.

30, EXEE

AEEEAEEEERRAGEHZER
BMAERNFERKLZERR RAKBERENL
BEBERERZ FERARRDE - AR
AEAFERANETAIREERELS
RBEIBET -

REBFBZERXRBERBEARBER AR
ERR(BREBTHRAE FH LR
BE18) e

EETHRANERARB - ERILRFZ
— WMo BEEEEEARARERER
ZHEBRR - REEEZ2HEBER K
SEBEBRNRE  BITHREERD
%T¥mﬁ%%§$ 81 o
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2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T FE T FAT FHERT
Results B
(Loss) for the year FEZ(518E) (78,496) (66,644) (15,954) (4,807)

Assets and liabilities EERAER

Total assets BEEBE 193,105 129,668 63,316 59,616 20,778
Total liabilities BEAE (51,890) (40,747) (14,387) (15,325) (13,782)
Net assets BEEFE 141,215 88,921 48,929 44,291
Net Asset Value per BREEFE

Share (HK$) (note) (&o) (58) 1.20 0.70 0.40 0.37

note: Total number of shares outstanding and fully paid as at 31 December 2023 after 5 : MR E A E2023F 12 A13H K ABH LR E
capital reorganisation effective on 13 December 2023. M2023F12A3TBE HITRBEHRMEE -



In this annual report (other than the independent auditor’s report as set out
on pages 43 to 46), the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context otherwise requires:

Associate(s)

BEAR

Board
BEEg

BVI
REBRLES

CG Code

e iS el

CODM

TERERRE

Company

EN/NG)

Director(s)

B=x

ECL
BHEEER

ESG Report

RE HeRERRS

For identification purpose only

2023 £/ « REREEHBERLA

Glossary
==
AR 5T

RARFERA (H R FA3E 46 B 2 B A% B A0 &R
LB BRIIENEZEME BT AE
BENTHE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB WA TZAZRE

board of Directors

BE=xg

British Virgin Islands
RERELES

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

FHRAM S4TSR 2 B EE BT

chief operating decision maker

TERERRE

Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
whose issued Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited 32 18 BB BR AR —BRBEREFMKLZE
RAaE EEETROREBRAMER LT

director(s) of the Company

KRRES

expected credit losses
EHEEEE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B RRERES

* 12 4585
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FVOCI

BRAFEFAEMEE RS

FVTPL
BAFEF ABR

GRIH

IRAIR

Group
REH

HKAS
BB G AR

HKFRSs

B s S R

HKICPA

BEGFERE

Hong Kong
&8

INED(s)
B IERITES

Listing Rules
A

fair value through other comprehensive income

BATEFAREMEZEYE

fair value through profit or loss
ZATEFAER

GR Investment Holdings Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

LREERBRAR  —HREBATMALZERRA  XARKRRZE2ENE QA

the Company and its subsidiaries
RABREAMERF

Hong Kong Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA
TR ARG 2 EE G AR

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) are standards and interpretations adopted by
HKICPA, comprise of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs); HKASs; HK(IFRIC)
Interpretations; and HK(SIC) Interpretations

EAVEREEARESSTMASHMRMANENRRE REEEVBRE
Ber R BB (ERMBRERBEREE(EBREZE ) BN RE

A E

EN=S

NG

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

BEGFERE

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEERFHITHRR

independent non-executive Director(s)

BUFATES

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

Bt X P B £ AR Al



MPF Scheme

sRiEE A8

Model Code

T4

A7

N T

Net Asset Value

BEFE
Opus Capital
Bl &R
PRC

H

Prosperity Management

R

I

38

Share(s)
& 17
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Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme established under Mandatory Provident Funds Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

RipEFB LV E48 B2 RBIERAE R BERAIMEM 2 RBIER B S

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules

ERBRAMEI0ME 2 EMBETAESETESFRHNRELETAI

the consolidated net asset value of the Group as reflected in its audited financial statements

AEERBRELMBHRRARR 2GR EEFE

Opus Capital Management Limited, the investment manager of the Group since 1 January 2019 that
provides investment management services to the Group and a private limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong and licensed to carry out Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under SFO
BEEREEERARF B2019F1A1BARNEE 2R EKE AEMASEHREHREE
ERERE  D—RHREEEIMALZAAGRAR  RIRIEFESF NS GO A ETER
(RHEEER)IREEBH 2FHMA

People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report, excludes Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan

g ARKFE  RAFBME  FOEES AFRAHE

Prosperity Management Services Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

REETERBERAR  —HRBEEMKRILZERAR  URARAZ2ENB QR

share(s) of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
ARARRAFRFREBEO.CONE T ZKH
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the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BEBEDESTIEE 75 LB KD

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMEAERIMBR AT

the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
AEERBERRANIPEZE RS

United States of America
EZNBER

year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F 1231 HILFE

at 31 December 2023
M2023F 12 A31H

year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31ALFE

2022 IM Agreement the agreement dated 18 January 2022 entered between the Company and Opus Capital regarding
the appointment of Opus Capital as the Company’s investment manager for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024

RRFEAIE EARN2022F1 A18AFT U2 ERE TR EER SR RA B2022F1 A1
HiZE2024F 12 A31 H L HIR 2 8 & 4538

2022 B E IR Wi

HK$ Hong Kong Doallar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEBEEEEABT

RMB Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC

AR FELEEEBARKE

usD United States Dollar, the lawful currency of USA

Ev EBEEEEHET
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